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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Good morning,

          3  and thank you for joining us on this beautiful day.

          4                 Today the Education Committee will

          5  hear from the Administration, unions and advocates

          6  regarding the status of the federally mandated Local

          7  Wellness Policy in New York City public schools.

          8                 We will also be hearing testimony on

          9  proposed resolution number 267-A, calling upon the

         10  Department of Education to assess the impact of its

         11  decision regarding milk choices in New York City

         12  public schools, in order to evaluate the effect on

         13  this policy change on children's milk consumption,

         14  and nutrition.

         15                 I just want to make a few opening

         16  remarks and then we will move on to hear from my

         17  colleague, Council Member Bill DeBlasio, when he

         18  arrives, who is a primary sponsor of proposed

         19  Resolution No. 267.

         20                 The Child Nutrition Act of 2004

         21  required that each school district established a

         22  well, Local Wellness Policy by school year 2006.

         23                 Under the act, school districts were

         24  required to involve parents, students and the public

         25  in developing the policy, along with representatives
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          2  of the School Food Authority, the School Board and

          3  school administrators.

          4                 The Local Wellness Policy must, at a

          5  minimum include goals for nutrition education,

          6  physical activity and other school-based activities

          7  designed to promote student wellness, nutrition

          8  guidelines for all foods available during the school

          9  day with the objectives of promoting student health

         10  and reducing childhood obesity and a plan to measure

         11  implementation of the Local Wellness Policy,

         12  including designating at least one individual to

         13  ensure that schools are meeting the Local Wellness

         14  Policy.

         15                 In sum, the purpose of the wellness

         16  policy is to promote student health by increasing

         17  students physical activity and improving nutritional

         18  content of school meals, as well as influencing

         19  students' behavior outside of school, enabling them

         20  to make healthy decisions and develop a healthy

         21  lifestyle.

         22                 The Local Wellness Policy requirement

         23  was introduced in part to help tackle the growing

         24  epidemic of childhood obesity in this country.

         25                 Nowhere is childhood obesity more of
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          2  a problem than in our public schools here in New

          3  York City.

          4                 A 2003 survey by the Department of

          5  Education and the Department of Health and Mental

          6  Hygiene found that 43 percent of kindergarten

          7  through fifth grade students are overweight or

          8  obese. Nearly triple the national rate.

          9                 Part of the reason for this is that

         10  our kids aren't getting enough physical activity

         11  during the school day. Recent surveys conducted by

         12  the Public Advocate Betsy Gotbaum, and

         13  Insideschools.org, found that City schools are out

         14  of compliance with State mandates for physical

         15  education, which called for participation in a

         16  physical education program five days a week in

         17  grades K to 3, three times a week in grades 4

         18  through 6, and three times per week in one semester,

         19  and two times per week in the other semester for

         20  grades 7 through 12.

         21                 This lack of physical activity is

         22  also hurting our children academically. As shown by

         23  research that has linked physical fitness to higher

         24  student achievement.

         25                 The media is increasingly focusing on
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          2  student wellness issues. Last week, for instance,

          3  Good Morning America featured two New York mothers

          4  fed up with the junkfood in school cafeterias.

          5                 They traveled the country and found

          6  school districts that were getting fresh, healthy

          7  food in the cafeteria by working with local farmers

          8  to introduce locally grown produce.

          9                 And on Sunday, the New York Times ran

         10  a story about the virtual disappearance of recess

         11  from schools in recent years.

         12                 Given this context, we are eager to

         13  hear about any new initiative the Department of

         14  Education has, or will introduce to improve student

         15  health and fitness. According to the Department of

         16  Education's website, it has adopted a wellness

         17  policy which seems to promote the health and

         18  wellbeing of students while taking into account

         19  competing priorities and the availability of funds.

         20                 However, the DOE does not seem to

         21  have published their local wellness policy and

         22  efforts to obtain it prior to today's hearing have

         23  been unsuccessful.

         24                 The Education Committee looks forward

         25  to learning more about the wellness policy today and
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          2  beginning an important dialogue on what more can be

          3  done to improve the health and fitness of our City

          4  school children.

          5                 And before I turn the mike over to my

          6  colleague to my Councilman Bill DeBlasio to say a

          7  word in his statement regarding the Resolution

          8  267-A, let me just introduce my other colleagues

          9  that are here this morning.

         10                 And to my right is Simcha Felder of

         11  Brooklyn, Lou Fidler of Brooklyn, and to my left,

         12  Melinda Katz of Queens. Jessica Lappin of Manhattan,

         13  Dan Garodnick of Manhattan, and Bill DeBlasio of

         14  Brooklyn.

         15                 And to my immediate right is

         16  Scheherazade Salimi, the Counsel to the Education

         17  Committee. And there is other Education staff here:

         18  Jennifer Culp. Raise your hand, Jennifer. And Jan

         19  Atwell, and other staff over there, if you need to

         20  talk to them.

         21                 With that, I'd like to turn the mike

         22  over to my colleague, Bill DeBlasio, regarding

         23  Resolution 267-A.

         24                 Council Member DeBlasio of Brooklyn.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Thank you
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          2  very much, Chair Jackson.

          3                 I want to first start by thanking

          4  you. I brought this issue to you a few months ago,

          5  and I want to thank you for how concerned you were

          6  from day one. And I think it is no accident that you

          7  were a public school parent for many years and you

          8  understood immediately, not only the substance of

          9  this question, of what we are, given our children to

         10  eat and drink at school, but also the important

         11  piece about how we work with parents in determining

         12  policy.

         13                 I'd say you're one of the experts in

         14  New York City about the need for parents to be

         15  involved in the policy-making process. So, I thank

         16  you for ensuring that this was part of your hearing

         17  today.

         18                 I also want to thank your staff who

         19  have been wonderful, Scherherazade and Jennifer, and

         20  I want to thank Jan Atwell, Regina Poreda-Ryan,

         21  Anthony Hogrebe, everyone who has been very, very

         22  helpful in putting together the elements of this

         23  hearing related to this resolution and Sherada

         24  Pouvavara (phonetic) from my staff, as well.

         25                 Look, about a year ago we had learned
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          2  that DOE had changed its policy in terms of the

          3  school lunch menu related to milk, and we learned

          4  that there was a decision in light of the obvious

          5  effort to fight obesity to very profoundly change

          6  the type of milk that was being served.

          7                 Now, I'll say at the outset, I don't

          8  know anyone who should say, well, we should keep

          9  serving whole milk. That's not the issue. I think

         10  there's a broad, broad agreement that we want to get

         11  away from whole milk and we certainly want to do

         12  what we can to fight obesity.

         13                 But what became clear to me, as a

         14  public school parent, and just as a parent in

         15  general who struggled with getting my own children

         16  to drink milk, and I've talked to lots of other

         17  parents in the same situation, the reality is milk

         18  is one of the most nutritious available foods, and

         19  getting children to drink milk is a crucial part of

         20  their overall nutritional situation, and it doesn't

         21  happen by accident to say the least.

         22                 All of us have developed our own

         23  strategies to get children to eat and drink the

         24  right things.

         25                 I think what happened here was, I'm
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          2  sure with good intentions the Department of

          3  Education moved rather aggressively and without a

          4  lot of dialogue with parents to radically change the

          5  menu and take away not only whole milk but take away

          6  some of the flavored milks and reduce the one

          7  flavored milk left, chocolate, just to the skim milk

          8  variety, which bluntly a lot of children, I think, a

          9  lot of people find unappealing. And again, if it's

         10  unappealing and people won't drink it, that means

         11  they're not getting the nutrition.

         12                 And what really woke me up to this

         13  was talking to pediatricians, who said the bottom

         14  line is, this is one of the core healthy foods, and

         15  we've got to get it into children to be able to

         16  ensure that they grow in a healthy manner.

         17                 I just want to say finally that after

         18  many attempts, and I think it parallels what the

         19  Chair was saying, many attempts to get clear

         20  information about what was going on with this

         21  policy, why there hadn't been an effort to engage

         22  parents. I think there really should have been a

         23  Citywide discussion with parents about, you know,

         24  what their kids were going to be eating and

         25  drinking. A lot of us were concerned that inevitably
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          2  that it would be a great reduction in milk

          3  consumption. And we asked repeatedly for

          4  clarification.

          5                 Well, just the other day, we got

          6  finally a letter from DOE confirming that for the

          7  last school year, milk consumption has dropped by

          8  ten percent.

          9                 Now, I think that is a vast amount of

         10  lost nutrition. I think a ten percent drop in milk

         11  consumption is something we should all be very

         12  concerned about, and we don't know by the way, if

         13  that's the end of the drop. That drop could even

         14  become more profound as children vote with their

         15  feet, if they don't like the choices they're given.

         16                 So, finally, I would say we put

         17  forward this resolution, I'm very, very appreciative

         18  to the Chair for this hearing. The bottom line of

         19  the resolution is, we want the facts and we want an

         20  analysis of what this policy change has meant for

         21  children and we want to look at the ways we should

         22  change the policy in light of these facts. I think

         23  the obvious way to go is to put the range of

         24  flavored milks back on the menu, and increase the

         25  fat content slightly to make them more appealing to
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          2  kids. I think that's what we need to test, and

          3  absolutely have an open dialogue about what this

          4  means to the City.

          5                 And lastly, Mr. Chairman, I was

          6  handed these petitions earlier from hundreds of

          7  parents who share the view. This policy should not

          8  have been changed without their consent, and who are

          9  worried about what it means for the nutrition of

         10  their children.

         11                 So, I will pass these along to you

         12  and, of course, the Department of Education. I thank

         13  you, again, for holding this hearing.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         15  Council Member Lew Fidler of Brooklyn.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Chairman. I appreciate your indulgence, the

         18  Committee's indulgence, for a comment on a subject

         19  that is very timely but off topic.

         20                 I recognize that the representatives

         21  from DOE who are here today are not involved with

         22  the issue of closings of high schools in the City of

         23  New York. But yesterday I awoke to the news that

         24  five high schools in our City, three of which are in

         25  Southern Brooklyn, are to be closed effective this
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          2  fall.

          3                 And I have to say that, I expressed

          4  my concern to the Chancellor's Office yesterday, and

          5  I want to express it again. And I want to express it

          6  publicly and on the record. I need to know where

          7  those 6,000 kids are going to go. I need to know

          8  now. The high school admission process is well

          9  underway. There are deadlines in that application

         10  that are effective on December 15th, and there are

         11  1,500 children who need to make selections.

         12                 You know, I also have competing

         13  concerns. One, as the Councilman for South Shore

         14  High School, and as an alumni tilden, I have

         15  constituents who I want to be able to know that they

         16  can send their kids to school some place closer than

         17  the Bronx.

         18                 On the other hand, every other school

         19  in and around Southern Brooklyn, with the exception

         20  of one or two, is at utilization capacity, and I

         21  don't want to see those schools being stuffed even

         22  further than they're being stuffed. So, whether it's

         23  Midwood, Madison, Murrow, Dewey, Fort Hamilton, New

         24  Uttrecht, Sheepshead Bay, Canarsie, any of those

         25  schools can't absorb 6,000 kids. And to go and tell
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          2  me that we're now first going to decide what we're

          3  going to do with those kids when we're in the middle

          4  of the high school application process, raises very,

          5  very, very serious questions for me and for my

          6  constituents both in the schools that are being

          7  closed, and the ones that are going to have to

          8  accommodate those kids.

          9                 And, so, Mr. Chairman, I appreciate

         10  the opportunity to comment on it, and I would

         11  suggest that perhaps this Committee have an

         12  oversight hearing, if not on just the closing of

         13  these high schools, but the process by which we make

         14  these determinations and the timing of those

         15  determinations, and the entire high school

         16  admissions process, as currently exists.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, thank you.

         19  And you did discuss this with me yesterday. Not only

         20  you, but many other members, and obviously this is

         21  an issue that we will be addressing with DOE, within

         22  the very near future.

         23                 So, with that, let me just turn to

         24  the first witnesses that are here to testify today.

         25  We have Laurie Benson, the Director of Fitness and
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          2  Physical Education at the Department of Education.

          3  And David Berkowitz, the Executive Director of

          4  School Food Services; is that correct? Or just

          5  School Food? School Food, okay.

          6                 With that, let me welcome you, and

          7  just introduce yourself on the record, and you may

          8  begin, whoever is going to begin the testimony

          9  first.

         10                 MR. BERKOWITZ: David Berkowitz.

         11  Executive Director, School Food.

         12                 Thanks for having us, Chair Jackson.

         13  I appreciate the opportunity to speak to you today.

         14  I'm very pleased that you're looking at this very

         15  important subject of wellness, really critical to

         16  New York City and the country.

         17                 I'd like to give you an overview of

         18  school food and some of our initiatives, and what

         19  we've been doing in the last few years.

         20                 School food in New York City is the

         21  largest school system in the United States. We're

         22  second in size only to the military, and if they

         23  keep closing bases, we may be larger.

         24                 We provide meals to students in over

         25  1,600 locations throughout the City, and we serve
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          2  over 180,000 breakfasts and 860,000 meals a day. In

          3  the last three years with the free breakfast

          4  program, we've increased breakfasts by millions in

          5  the last, over 5 million breakfasts have increased

          6  in the last three years and we're very proud of

          7  that.

          8                 We serve public, charter, non-public,

          9  parochial programs throughout the City. We have

         10  satellite programs, we serve numerous snack supper

         11  programs throughout the City during the week, as

         12  well as on the weekend, and we have a very large

         13  summer program that we're looking to continue to

         14  build upon, very importantly it gives me an

         15  opportunity to remind everyone in the summer program

         16  there is no application required, no paperwork

         17  required, a child under 19 can go to any school and

         18  get a free breakfast and lunch. It's a fantastic

         19  program that, frankly, we want to continue to build

         20  participation in. We currently sever over 6 million

         21  meals, over the course of the summer.

         22                 I want to talk a little bit about our

         23  nutritional standards, as something we've worked

         24  very hard in the last number of years. I know

         25  previously we've talked about this at Council
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          2  hearings. But a brief overview in terms of what

          3  we're doing to address the issues of obesity and

          4  diabetes, as well as other issues.

          5                 Our goal is to meet the daily

          6  allowances on a weekly basis, and to move forward in

          7  the future to try to meet all of the guidelines on a

          8  daily basis with fat and sodium and so on.

          9                 We currently limit fat to under ten

         10  percent saturated, total fats under 30 percent, I'm

         11  sorry, saturated under ten, and we've been

         12  aggressively working on the trans fat issue,

         13  reducing trans fat, working very closely with the

         14  DOH, who has just put some new regulations,

         15  presented new information on that and regulations,

         16  and the good news is we're really ahead of the curve

         17  in terms of what we're doing with trans fat. For

         18  example, in our high schools where we do serve

         19  chips, we don't serve fried chips, we serve baked

         20  chips, and it has zero trans fat. The same with our

         21  cookies now. All of our cookies have zero trans fat,

         22  and, again, we're aggressively moving on some of the

         23  remaining products, working very closely with

         24  manufacturers.

         25                 The fact that we serve 860,000 meals
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          2  a day, we do have clout and are able to push

          3  manufacturers to meet our standards and help us

          4  accomplish lowering some of these very important

          5  benchmarks.

          6                 A good example of that is yogurt. We

          7  started a few years ago with regular yogurt, went to

          8  nonfat yogurt, to low fat yogurt, now we're at

          9  nonfat yogurt. And we're very proud now, now our

         10  yogurt, which is from New York State, by the way,

         11  which we're trying to support, has zero high

         12  fructose corn syrup, another important area that

         13  we're looking at.

         14                 One of the things we're extremely

         15  proud of, and I think we lead the country and all

         16  school districts, our standards are very high in

         17  terms of we're one of the few districts that we do

         18  not use artificial colors, artificial sweeteners,

         19  BHT, MSG, and we do not take meat mechanically taken

         20  off the bone. A very important issue, if you're

         21  familiar with Mad Cow and similar things. We don't

         22  want tissue of meats coming into our foods.

         23                 So, we're working very hard on that.

         24  We have a program called "Reformulization," where

         25  our chef works with manufacturers. So, we're able to
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          2  work on products like chicken nuggets. We go to the

          3  manufacturer, the chef works on a taste profile, and

          4  says we want to reduce fat and sodium. Take out the

          5  dark meat, put in more white meat and has less fat,

          6  give us less sodium, and in that way we're able to

          7  continue to improve all of our products.

          8                 We've done that with many of our

          9  products on our menu. And, again, a very important

         10  initiative for us that we'll continue to do.

         11                 We have salad bars in all of our high

         12  schools. That went in about a year ago. Surprisingly

         13  very popular. High school kids do like salads and

         14  will eat their greens. And we're also offering more

         15  salads in elementary schools.

         16                 Fresh fruit and vegetables also key.

         17  We're trying to reduce the use of canned goods and

         18  have more fresh vegetables and fresh fruits. And we

         19  continue to make progress on that. Another important

         20  part of that initiative is to buy as much that we

         21  can locally, that's sustainable, working with New

         22  York State farmers in the tristate area, and over

         23  the past summer we've had peaches, pears, carrots

         24  from New York State.

         25                 We've also very pleased, we know have
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          2  a sliced apple contract with the New York State

          3  company. We work very closely on this local

          4  initiative with Food Change with Department of

          5  Agriculture and Markets, with the Council on the

          6  Environment, and we'll continue to do so.

          7                 We recently had an event right next

          8  door here at the Market on Friday that you now have

          9  in the area of working with the Council Environment.

         10  Our chef was giving our several recipes, and getting

         11  the products from the green market. We want to do

         12  this in other areas of the City, as well.

         13                 Whole wheat bread is something also

         14  over the last two years we've introduced.

         15                 We no longer have white breads in our

         16  school, and I think this, as we get into the

         17  discussion with milk, I think is a good explanation

         18  in terms of how we have to go. A good example, an

         19  analogy, we started with white breads, and we slowly

         20  introduced whole wheat breads, and now, not only our

         21  sliced breads, our rolls, our dinner rolls, our hot

         22  dog rolls, our hamburger rolls, everything is whole

         23  wheat. Did kids have to adjust to it? Yes, they did.

         24  But they did adjust to that. And we see the same

         25  thing taking place in terms of the milk strategy.
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          2                 In terms of milk, as was suggested by

          3  Council Member DeBlasio, our policy has changed. I

          4  think we are all in agreement that we do need to

          5  take the fat out of milk and eliminate whole milk.

          6  That is happening across the country.

          7                 I talk to literally hundreds of

          8  parents as I attend Council Education Councils

          9  throughout the City, as I meet with parents and

         10  schools. There is absolutely no question that every

         11  parent is more concerned about nutrition than they

         12  ever have been before, which I think is a great

         13  thing. And they come up to me and they keep saying

         14  do more, do more. And that's, frankly, what we're

         15  trying to do. And it is a bit of a balancing act,

         16  because what we're trying to do is feed more kids.

         17  That's certainly one of our key initiatives. Feeding

         18  more kids for breakfast and lunch, many of our

         19  children in the City may have two or three meals in

         20  our schools with our supper programs and so on. So,

         21  if they have a meal with us, it is very likely it

         22  is, that it's more probably that they're going to

         23  have a healthier meal than if they go to a local

         24  bodega or a local fastfood chain. So, we definitely

         25  measure participation, and that is absolutely
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          2  critical.

          3                 So, there is a balancing act. We want

          4  foods that look good, taste good, that are very

          5  healthy, but that the kids are going to eat.

          6  Absolutely, that's key.

          7                 So, in terms of the milk, we

          8  eliminated the whole, as I said. We have a chocolate

          9  skim, we have a one percent and we have a skim. And

         10  our goal is to move the kids to one percent and to

         11  skim. We'll continue to have the chocolate skim.

         12  We've worked very hard on a formulation that reduces

         13  the fat and reduces the sugar. It does have less

         14  sugar than some of the Hershey Chocolate and other

         15  chocolate drinks that you'll find in your local

         16  supermarket and deli. We think it tastes pretty

         17  good. Can you make it sweeter, it tastes better?

         18  Absolutely.

         19                 But I think there is a tremendous

         20  concern about sugar and diabetes. As I talk to

         21  parents throughout the City, and work with nutrition

         22  organizations, and we've worked very closely, this

         23  was not something done in haste. We've worked

         24  closely with the Department of Health who have

         25  looked at this issue, we've worked very closely with
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          2  Food Change that's done a lot of work on this issue,

          3  and other nutrition organizations in the City.

          4  Certainly on many of these issues you have many

          5  points of view, but all things considered, obesity,

          6  and in our City and especially in the Bronx,

          7  diabetes is a huge, huge issue. Do I want to educate

          8  kids to have flavored milks? Do I want to educate

          9  kids to have other flavors? Not really. I think it's

         10  very important that we teach our kids early on in

         11  school life how to eat healthy and then they'll grow

         12  up eating healthy. Is it adjustment? Yes, it is. Can

         13  we make that adjustment? I'm confident we can.

         14                 Very importantly, participation

         15  continues to climb. Because, again, we don't want to

         16  introduce something that's healthy, serve less kids,

         17  reduce participation, and have them go to McDonalds.

         18  That's not what we want to do. But participation is

         19  climbing in breakfast, and we're also seeing it

         20  climb in our other divisions.

         21                 And, certainly, you know, we have

         22  more work to do as well.

         23                 And the key things in terms of how we

         24  deal with this issue while we're on this nutrition,

         25  this education, a number of things we have to do. We
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          2  do have to teach the kids while they're in school.

          3  The wellness policy does talk about having health

          4  and committee, health and fitness councils in every

          5  school. That's critical. And that's why I love to

          6  see parents as excited and engaged in health as

          7  never before.

          8                 Obviously this subject gets a

          9  tremendous amount of attention, and rightly so. But

         10  we need those things.

         11                 In our school, School Food holds

         12  school partnership meetings. We encourage parents

         13  working through the principal, meeting with parents

         14  and students, talking about nutrition, talking about

         15  menu and so forth. It is education process. It is

         16  not School Foods' obligation alone. We take it very

         17  critically, nutrition is at the core of what we do,

         18  but we need parents involved, we need the community

         19  involved. Very importantly, I'm so pleased we're

         20  working so closely now with the Council through the

         21  Food Security meetings that have been set up, so

         22  we're meeting with many of your staff members and

         23  the DOE, and I think this focus on meals, on

         24  nutrition, on food stamps is I think fantastic.

         25                 We do also have an attrition
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          2  coordinator, Herman Mackey, who is our registered

          3  dietician. He looks at all these issues, looks at

          4  the trials, looks what's happening across the

          5  country, looks at the medical information coming out

          6  so that we're at the forefront, as well as working

          7  very closely with nutrition organizations. And that

          8  really ties me into the community outreach that I

          9  think has helped us achieve whatever we have

         10  achieved. We do work very closely with other

         11  organizations, and they all play a critical role in

         12  helping us achieve better results.

         13                 Again, as I said, Food Change does a

         14  lot of work on nutrition, as well as food stamps and

         15  other things. They're supporting us with helping us

         16  improve local purchasing, City Harvest does a great

         17  job and works very closely with us, the Coalition

         18  Against Hunger, Children's Defense Fund, who does a

         19  tremendous amount of work in and very engaged in

         20  terms of the summer programs, and where I have

         21  committees set up to improve those numbers. We work

         22  with the Department of Health, as I said earlier,

         23  the Institute of Culinary Education also we're doing

         24  a lot of work with. So, we're very pleased about

         25  that.
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          2                 Just quickly, I spoke about these

          3  partnership meetings, and we'll talk about this to

          4  all parents as we have meetings throughout the City.

          5  We do encourage parents to talk to School Food

          6  managers, and we have managers, supervisors an

          7  regional coordinators in every borough of the City,

          8  and they're all very concerned in terms of

          9  satisfying parent needs.

         10                 One program that's very important,

         11  I'd like to take a minute to talk about, this is

         12  School Food Plus. This is a program where Food

         13  Change wrote a proposal to the Kelloggs Foundation,

         14  and we received a grant for $2 million. Very

         15  briefly, a collaboration between the Department of

         16  Health, Teachers College, Food Change, School Food,

         17  Department of Agriculture and Markets to teach kids

         18  and change their eating habits on plant-based foods.

         19  So, there's a program that Food Change has done for

         20  years, Cook Shop, that has been very successful. So,

         21  we use Cook Shop. We develop recipes on plant-based

         22  foods, we serve them in our dining rooms, and we

         23  teach kids about them, and the main theory being,

         24  kids see it, learn about it, see it in the dining

         25  room, they're going to get more familiar with it,
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          2  because let's face it, kids don't rush to

          3  vegetables. We do have to educate them to eat more

          4  plant-based foods. So, just a quick synopsis,

          5  because I know time is short. We're in about 82

          6  schools now with this School Food Plus Program.

          7                 We do now have a Culinary Concepts

          8  Department. We have an Executive Chef on board,

          9  about three years. We think that has been a

         10  phenomenal development, in terms of a focus on food,

         11  because to me, food, marketing, nutrition, go

         12  together. You could have very healthy food. If it

         13  doesn't look good, if it doesn't taste good, the

         14  kids won't eat it. Kids eat with their eyes, just

         15  like we do, and we are all food service experts, are

         16  we not? We all know what we like.

         17                 So, culinary and the Executive Chef

         18  and five regional chefs, one in every borough, work

         19  on presentation and quality and menu planning and

         20  recipe development, and working with manufacturers,

         21  again, to reduce the fat, the sodium, the trans fat,

         22  the high fructose, the corn syrup and so forth.

         23                 So, we're very pleased in the

         24  progress being made with our Executive Chef in the

         25  Culinary. And, frankly, it helps parents think of
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          2  school food in a new way, in terms of an Executive

          3  Chef and not remember their experiences 20, 30 years

          4  ago.

          5                 Also, a very important part of our

          6  strategic plan is marketing. The best example I

          7  always give when I talk to folks is the apple. We

          8  serve apples for years when you give kids an apple,

          9  they play baseball. You give them a sliced apple in

         10  a nice bag with graphics, they eat five times more

         11  apples.

         12                 So, to me, that's what it's all

         13  about. How do we not only serve the healthy food,

         14  how do we get the students, the children to eat

         15  those foods? And that is the typical example, in

         16  terms of marketing. So, we're trying to make our

         17  dining rooms more attractive with posters, and theme

         18  days and calendar of events and Sweepsteaks and

         19  celebrity visits, to enhance the dining experience.

         20                 Also, part of, again, it gets back to

         21  milk and nutrition, some of our posters, now what

         22  we're promoting is low fat milk, rather than the

         23  posters of years ago promoting the flavors, let us

         24  talk to the kids and understand social marketing,

         25  and talk to them about low fat, let them see
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          2  pictures of celebrities and sports figures with

          3  low-fat milk and skim milk. If they see it with

          4  strawberry milk, that's what they're going to ask

          5  for. If they see it with low-fat milk, they're going

          6  to drink the low-fat milk.

          7                 So, marketing and merchandising and

          8  making our dining rooms more attractive, in creating

          9  what I call school food restaurants is really key to

         10  what we're trying to accomplish and making progress,

         11  but still have a lot to do.

         12                 Lastly, we do have some strategic

         13  partnerships. I spoke about the Kelloggs grant

         14  School Food Plus, we're working closely, the

         15  Heckshire Foundation gave us $250,000 last year to

         16  promote summer. We have another proposal in, we're

         17  hoping for additional funds. As I said, a great

         18  program that many parents don't know about. So, we

         19  want to continue to promote that.

         20                 We're also going to be working with

         21  the Culinary Institute of America. The premiere

         22  culinary school in the United States that's going to

         23  be working with New York City and dealing with

         24  issues of obesity. They are wonderful at training

         25  and well known for it, and they're going to work
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          2  with us on product development, recipe development,

          3  leadership training. So, we're very excited about

          4  that opportunity, and we're also going to be working

          5  with the Cardeff University (phonetic) out of Wales.

          6  They've contacted us. They visited us last year, and

          7  they study major cities. They did some research on

          8  Rome. They did some wonderful things in Rome, Italy

          9  that's happening, and they're going to be looking at

         10  New York City, London, England, and so forth, so

         11  we're very excited about that.

         12                 So, in summary, we think we've

         13  accomplished a lot in the last few years, but

         14  certainly realized still a lot more to do. Thank you

         15  for the opportunity to speak to you this morning.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Berkowitz. Now we hear from Lori Benson, the

         18  Director of Fitness and Physical Education. And let

         19  me just say before you begin, Ms. Benson, we've been

         20  joined by additional colleagues, Peter Vallone, Jr.,

         21  of Queens. I was getting ready to say the Bronx, but

         22  they're from Queens.

         23                 You may begin your testimony.

         24                 MS. BENSON: Thank you. Good morning,

         25  Chair Jackson, members of the Education Committee.
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          2  My name is Lori Benson, and I'm the Director of

          3  Fitness and Physical Education for the Department of

          4  Education.

          5                 I'm absolutely delighted to be here

          6  today and have this opportunity to share with you

          7  the tremendous surge of energy and commitment that

          8  is happening throughout the City in the field of

          9  fitness and physical education.

         10                 As Chair Jackson already mentioned,

         11  in 2003 the Department of Education teamed up with

         12  the Department of Health to do a study on elementary

         13  school students.

         14                 And what we did find was the 43

         15  percent, as was previously stated, of our students

         16  were either overweight or obese. What's really

         17  alarming is that in kindergarten, one in five, 20

         18  percent of our students, were already coming into

         19  our system clinically obese. This problem begins as

         20  early as kindergarten.

         21                 The Department of Education elected

         22  and piloted the Physical Best curriculum in four of

         23  the ten geographic regions during 2003-2004 school

         24  year. And developed by Human Kinetics and the Cooper

         25  Institute of Aerobic Research, Physical Best is
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          2  designed for a K through 12 program and really

          3  encompasses lifetime fitness concepts. It has a

          4  health-related fitness philosophy.

          5                 This curriculum is now in use all

          6  throughout the City and rather on focusing on the

          7  development of sport skills, it really focuses on

          8  improving students individual fitness. So, what is

          9  that? That's aerobic fitness, muscle strength and

         10  endurance, flexibility and body composition. Really

         11  the appreciation and benefits of lifelong physical

         12  activity and how students can ultimately embrace

         13  these concepts and want to do this not just in

         14  school, but in and out of school.

         15                 Through the terrific work of regional

         16  instructional specialists of physical education, all

         17  physical education teachers receive ongoing

         18  professional development in Physical Best and other

         19  health-related fitness concepts. They've established

         20  ongoing curriculum committees to really revisit the

         21  curriculum and strategize how we can meet the needs

         22  of all schools. What are the effective methods of

         23  implementing lessons, and how do we adapt these

         24  lessons based upon the school structure, based upon

         25  the staffing.
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          2                 Providing appropriate technical and

          3  professional support for teachers, and this has

          4  never happened within the history of the Department

          5  of Education.

          6                 What's really interesting, in order

          7  to track the effectiveness and demonstration of this

          8  teaching, we've developed an NYC FitnessGram. An NYC

          9  FitnessGram is a health-related fitness assessment

         10  that encompasses all those areas I just mentioned,

         11  aerobic fitness, muscle strength and endurance,

         12  flexibility and body composition.

         13                 Actually, in our testimony we stated

         14  that nearly 300,000 students as of December 12th

         15  participated and have formal assessments within the

         16  system right now. Actually, as of this morning that

         17  number has climbed to 316,000. And this assessment

         18  period will be closing next week. By the end of the

         19  school year, we anticipate that 500,000 students

         20  will have participated in this assessment. And this

         21  is objective criterion reference profiles, developed

         22  by the Cooper Institute of Aerobic Research, showing

         23  how students can be within a healthy fitness zone.

         24  So, the goal is not necessarily to meet a particular

         25  standard, but to get within a healthy fitness zone

                                                            35

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  and to help students set goals to establish this

          3  lifelong journey of personal fitness.

          4                 What's really interesting about NYC

          5  FitnessGrams, is that it is adapting from an

          6  existing product called "FitnessGram," but what we

          7  did was we licensed the formulas from the Cooper

          8  Institute of Aerobics Research, built our own

          9  in-house system. It synthesized with all of our

         10  student data information. We can correlate this

         11  information with students' attendance, their

         12  academic performance, zip codes, anything that's in

         13  a student's record can be correlated with

         14  achievement on fitness scores.

         15                 And as Chair Jackson alluded to

         16  earlier about the research about academic

         17  performance and health-related fitness levels, the

         18  California Department of Education does use

         19  FitnessGram and that's the study that correlated

         20  FitnessGram scores to standardize achievement test

         21  scores, and it was a direct staircase correlation in

         22  every grade that they assessed.

         23                 This information is communicated to

         24  students and parents, and what you see behind us

         25  over here is, on the easel, is a sample of the
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          2  FitnessGram report. And if you'll indulge me for

          3  just a moment, I'll try to put my physical education

          4  voice.

          5                 Here is a copy --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You have to

          7  speak into the mike. Sergeant-At-Arms, can you take

          8  it, please? Okay.

          9                 Ms. Benson, could you do me a favor?

         10  Sergeant-At-Arms, can you bring that forward to the

         11  Committee, because quite frankly, it's in the dark

         12  there and we can't see it. Just bring it forward

         13  about ten feet, if you don't mind.

         14                 MS. BENSON: So, what you see before

         15  you is a copy of the student -- of the parent report

         16  rather, in Urdu. And, so, the parent report is

         17  translated into every language that we translate all

         18  of our parent information in, including Arabic,

         19  Bengali, Chinese, English, so on and so forth. And

         20  what we have, I don't know if you want me to get up

         21  and pull it up side, but behind there -- Judy, would

         22  you mind? We have what the report looks like for the

         23  student, because in addition to supporting parents,

         24  there are specific messages for students, and you

         25  have a sample of each of the English versions within
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          2  your packet and a blue folder.

          3                 On the following chart, if we can

          4  pull that over, we have the sample English parent

          5  report. I think we're okay right now. Judy will help

          6  me out.

          7                 And the last chart is actually the

          8  back of the student and the parent report, which

          9  shows the different assessments that students

         10  participate in, talks about how families can help

         11  students, provides information on our website and

         12  Department of Health's website, so that students and

         13  parents can really be truly educated in the areas of

         14  health-related, correct. And those are the reports

         15  within your folders. They look just like this.

         16                 So, the student report has

         17  information generated specifically from the program,

         18  based upon their students age and gender, almost

         19  like an individualized fitness plan for the student.

         20  And the parent report is a static report, in terms

         21  of the text, which really talks about what is

         22  aerobic fitness, what is body composition, what is

         23  muscle strength and endurance, what is flexibility

         24  and really why is this important?

         25                 What's really important for the
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          2  Department is that this formal student assessment,

          3  not only communicates to families, but it provides

          4  accountability in an area that has lacked

          5  accountability for many, many years. A discipline

          6  where there hasn't been a lot of teacher

          7  accountability for physical education, and what we

          8  can do with this information is track students

          9  fitness levels over time, as long as a student

         10  remains in our system.

         11                 We will be able to conduct those same

         12  studies we've heard about in California and really

         13  take it to that next level and use this research in

         14  formulating our next steps.

         15                 NYC FitnessGram is now in the more

         16  than 600 elementary schools that have a dedicated

         17  physical education teacher. Teachers are

         18  implementing this with extensive professional

         19  development in how to use this web-based

         20  application, and you should also know that we

         21  established a pocket PC version of the application.

         22  So, we have this virtual clipboard that PE teachers

         23  can actually bring along with them.

         24                 Even as I speak, the Department of

         25  Health is analyzing the tremendous amount of data
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          2  that we collected last year.

          3                 Last year in our first pilot, and

          4  it's difficult to say this is just a pilot because

          5  it's such a large collection of data, 235,000

          6  students participated last year and reports were

          7  sent home to their parents, and the Department of

          8  Health is working with us to analyze this data to

          9  look at trends to assimilate it with student

         10  academic performance, even other areas, such as

         11  asthma, attendance and all of those other factors.

         12                 In order to make this really

         13  systemic, the Office of Fitness and Physical

         14  Education provides training for all of the

         15  school-based nurses, the school-based physicians,

         16  parent coordinators, CECs, you name it, because the

         17  number of informed individuals about health-related

         18  fitness is truly important as we really raise this

         19  issue and shift this culture.

         20                 You know, we're taking advantage of

         21  all possibilities to get kids up, get them moving

         22  and developing sound fitness habits that can really

         23  go beyond memories that some of us have of Dodge

         24  Ball and relay races. We're training classroom

         25  teachers, we're training licensed physical education
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          2  teachers. We're also changing the New York City

          3  Phys. Ed license so we actually have an elementary

          4  physical education license. We have not had that.

          5  And that will be in place for the start of the next

          6  school year.

          7                 It is important that we ensure that

          8  we have the most qualified individuals teaching

          9  physical education.

         10                 Adaptive physical education, for

         11  example, is very, very important, and is

         12  specifically designed to adapt activities for

         13  students that may not be able to participate in a

         14  traditional setting to support the interest, the

         15  capacities of students with handicapped conditions,

         16  rhythms, games, fitness activities, and what we've

         17  been doing is have been working with teachers

         18  through professional development again, specifically

         19  for adaptive physical education, having regular

         20  participation in activities Citywide, regionwide

         21  with Special Olympics and Department of

         22  Education-run activities, and basically we are

         23  developing this culture that supports quality

         24  physical activity for all students.

         25                 As I mentioned earlier, we are
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          2  training classroom teachers, because we know we need

          3  to sort of attack this at all angles.

          4                 Through the support of Nike's GO PE,

          5  and through support from the Department of Health

          6  and Mental Hygiene, we're training classroom

          7  teachers, including pre-kindergarten classroom

          8  teachers, on ways to integrate age and

          9  developmentally appropriate physical activity into

         10  the classroom, and to encourage classroom teachers

         11  step into the gymnasium when there is an open

         12  period, to get out on that school yard, to use the

         13  lunchroom when there aren't nutritious meals being

         14  served or get onto that auditorium stage where

         15  everyone can do physical activity.

         16                 In addition to this activity, we're

         17  providing very adaptable curriculum for use in the

         18  classroom, or a larger space, providing equipment

         19  for all of these teachers to really stimulate

         20  activity and want them to get out there.

         21                 Also, within your folder, on the left

         22  side of your blue folder, you'll find a one-pager

         23  with comments from teachers that have participated

         24  in the Nike GO PE training this year. There were

         25  more than 700 second and third classroom teachers
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          2  that have been involved this year and this is a

          3  three-year program that we are going to be turning

          4  second, third, fourth and fifth grade classroom

          5  teachers and along with Department of Health

          6  support, all of the prekindergarten classroom

          7  teachers, and we are seeking support to fill in the

          8  gaps.

          9                 Collaborations with community and

         10  professional organizations definitely lead to

         11  supplemental materials and additional professional

         12  development for educators on a wide range of topics.

         13  So, we talked about health-related fitness, we

         14  talked about classroom instruction, but we need to

         15  also focus on classroom management. Things like

         16  using dance to support fitness, event-based

         17  learning, and really making effective adaptations

         18  for students with special needs.

         19                 A unique partnership the Department

         20  has fostered the last couple of years is a

         21  partnership with the Sports and Arts and Schools

         22  Foundation, which has really laid the ground work to

         23  create the CHAMPS League, which I hope many of you

         24  are familiar with. It's the first of its kind

         25  Citywide program that engages students, regardless
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          2  of physical ability levels to participate in before

          3  or after school programs.

          4                 We started this with the middle

          5  schools, and the Sports and Arts and Schools

          6  Foundation supports a significant amount of funding,

          7  which actually that funding comes from the City

          8  Council to the Sports and Arts and Schools

          9  Foundation to work with us.

         10                 This league, this program, uses a

         11  co-curricular approach so that it imbeds the

         12  health-related fitness concepts of the Physical Best

         13  curriculum within this program. You'll also find in

         14  your blue packet a one-page photo that has some of

         15  the activities that you may find in the programs

         16  throughout the CHAMPS Middle School Sports Fitness

         17  League.

         18                 So, CHAMPS, what does that stand for?

         19  It's not about champions. It stands for Cooperative,

         20  Healthy, Active, Motivated, Positive Students. Quite

         21  an acronym, but it is exactly what we're focusing

         22  on, and it's not necessarily about athletics, it's

         23  about having students find their niche, find what

         24  they enjoy so that they will continue to be

         25  physically active.

                                                            44

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 This started as a very small pilot in

          3  40 schools in the spring of 2003. We've grown to

          4  more than 200 middle schools, three seasons across

          5  the school year and a thousand programs, including

          6  traditional sports, non-traditional sports and

          7  fitness-based activities.

          8                 So, we have activities ranging from

          9  tennis and basketball, non-traditional sports, such

         10  as wrestling and crew and fencing, and even programs

         11  that are step aerobics and Yoga, and African dance.

         12                 We are seeking funding to expand this

         13  program so that we can grow this down to the

         14  elementary school level and have a complimentary

         15  Citywide before and after school co-curricular

         16  program.

         17                 In conjunction with the Department of

         18  Parks and Recreation, we are using six City Parks

         19  Rec Center pools to provide instruction for second

         20  and third grade students. Last year nearly 6,000

         21  students were able to learn how to swim through this

         22  pilot. There are three ten-week programs where

         23  students rotate in and out of these programs, and

         24  also, once they participate in these recreation

         25  center programs, they become card-carrying members
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          2  of the recreation center. And we also have

          3  mid-winter and winter spring break programs to

          4  encourage these students to participate in all of

          5  the recreation center programs during the vacation.

          6                 This is about learning to swim but

          7  it's also about water safety, and we know we need to

          8  start young and that's why we're starting with

          9  second and third grade and we anticipate growing

         10  this up over the years.

         11                 While many, many excellent physical

         12  education programs can be found in our schools, I

         13  know that they're not being met at all levels at the

         14  full scope across the City.

         15                 We want all children to be active

         16  most days of the week. Everyone agrees that more

         17  time is needed for physical activity.

         18                 Our approach to quality

         19  standards-based instruction stems from both the

         20  health needs of our students, in recognition of the

         21  deficit of this instructional area that was left by

         22  the City's near bankrupt crisis in 1975.

         23                 Physical education had not ever truly

         24  recovered until three years ago, actually right

         25  after the City Council hearing in 2003 where we
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          2  began to implement many of these new initiatives.

          3                 In the spring, New York City will be

          4  honored by the National Association of Sport and

          5  Physical Education, NASPE. NASPE is recognizing our

          6  City's commitment to creating systemic change and

          7  shifting the culture of instruction to lifelong

          8  fitness.

          9                 Basically, if we can do it here, if

         10  we can do this in New York City, the largest school

         11  district in the country, this commitment to change

         12  can truly happen anywhere.

         13                 This recognition is well deserved,

         14  but it's only the beginning of our efforts to

         15  improve student health, and as a corollary, just

         16  beginning to be studied by researchers, comparing

         17  these fitness levels to academic performance in

         18  overall health is very important to us, and I think

         19  we're going to find some very interesting trends

         20  when our data is analyzed.

         21                 All of the initiatives we have

         22  discussed today are imbedded in the Department's

         23  wellness policy. This policy was developed by the

         24  Department in conjunction with the New York City

         25  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, and the
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          2  policy itself was coordinated by the Office of

          3  School Health.

          4                 It was presented to the Panel of

          5  Educational Policy in September for the start of the

          6  2006/'07 school year, and it was just recently

          7  disseminated to principals via the Principals'

          8  Weekly Newsletter. My office and David's office is

          9  responsible for supporting schools in their

         10  understanding and implementation of this policy.

         11                 We apologize that you have not

         12  received the policy to date, and we'll be sure that

         13  we get that to you today.

         14                 Thank you very much for your

         15  attention, and we look forward to answering your

         16  questions.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you, Ms.

         18  Benson. We appreciate you coming forward and

         19  presenting to us, the Education Committee, an update

         20  on where you are, as far as DOE, in implementing the

         21  Local Wellness Program.

         22                 But let me just ask the first

         23  question. Where, if at all, is the Wellness Program

         24  located on your website? Is it on the website?

         25                 MS. BENSON: It is in fact on the
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          2  website.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Can you tell us

          4  where?

          5                 MS. BENSON: Absolutely.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Because I

          7  indicated in my opening statement, my staff was

          8  searching for the Local Wellness policy and could

          9  not locate it.

         10                 MS. BENSON: Sure.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And I'm just

         12  saying that if my staff was doing that, and they're

         13  involved specifically in education, and they know

         14  how to navigate websites, then obviously a parent or

         15  anybody else looking for, in my opinion, would have

         16  an extremely difficult time locating it.

         17                 Can you tell us now where it is on

         18  the website?

         19                 MS. BENSON: Our website actually, as

         20  you know, as quite a lot of information on it, and

         21  we will absolutely forward you the direct link to

         22  the site.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Yes, but I'm

         24  just curious, more so than forwarding the direct

         25  link, and I would agree, but if it's so complicated
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          2  that the average person can't find it, then that's

          3  not good.

          4                 So, you know, if you go to your home

          5  page, is there a link on the left-hand side that

          6  says Local Wellness Program and you just click on

          7  that and then there it is right there? Is it that

          8  simple, or is it more complicated than that?

          9                 MS. BENSON: It is a little bit more

         10  complicated than that, but what we can do is make it

         11  less complicated.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You know, I

         13  appreciate if you can send a direct link, but, you

         14  know, I think that, you know, if it was a link right

         15  on the home page on the left-hand column under

         16  wellness or fitness, that would be really, really

         17  easy for people to see.

         18                 MS. BENSON: We will add a link most

         19  definitely on the Office of Fitness and Physical

         20  Education Page to the wellness policy. And we can

         21  also do that through School Food as well.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Let me turn to

         23  my colleagues who have some questions. I don't know

         24  what their schedules are. I know there are other

         25  Committee meetings that are taking place, some of
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          2  them may be in and out.

          3                 Let me go to first Dan Garodnick of

          4  Manhattan.

          5                 Dan.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Thank you,

          7  Mr. Chairman.

          8                 And welcome to both of you, and thank

          9  you for your testimony today.

         10                 I share the concern of my colleagues

         11  about the numbers of students who you have

         12  identified as being overweight at 24 percent and 19

         13  percent is obese and the fact that that problem is

         14  starting as early as it is, I wanted to focus, I

         15  suppose, Ms. Benson, first on the fitness program,

         16  because that sounded like an interesting and

         17  constructive way to both get the school involved in

         18  this challenge that we have, while also bringing the

         19  students themselves and parents into a process where

         20  they can have more information and also make

         21  decisions about how to improve the fitness and

         22  health of their children.

         23                 I first question I wanted to

         24  understand from you is, so 300,000 or 316,000

         25  students as of today have been evaluated and you
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          2  expect that 500,000 students I think you said would

          3  be evaluated for this by the end of the school year.

          4  First question for you is, when did this start? When

          5  did the program start? We'll start with that one?

          6                 MS. BENSON: Approximately three years

          7  ago we piloted the fitness program software itself

          8  in about 100 schools, K through 12. And what we

          9  realized was that we needed to build an in-house

         10  system to really be able to look at the data. So,

         11  for example, that first-year pilot, during

         12  2003/2004, we weren't able to press a button and

         13  look at this data from 100 schools. There are also

         14  issues of the program being installed in different

         15  computers and what we did over the course of the

         16  2004/2005 school year was work with a series of

         17  educators, physical educators, those that were a

         18  part of the pilot, and developed NYC FitnessGram,

         19  which was created as a web-based application

         20  interfacing with all of our student information

         21  systems.

         22                 So, once we were able to do that and

         23  make it something that can work, and that can be

         24  usable for schools, and then we can literally press

         25  a button and see what's going on Citywide,
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          2  region-wide or school-wide, we then began extensive

          3  professional development for all of our 3,000 plus

          4  physical education teachers. And where we started

          5  last year was we started with every elementary

          6  school that had a dedicated physical education

          7  teacher.

          8                 So that was a close to 600 schools at

          9  the time last year. We also did a small pilot last

         10  year of 40 secondary schools, two middle schools and

         11  two high schools in each region. The program worked

         12  a little bit differently with the high school and

         13  middle school programming, we had to sort of play

         14  around with that.

         15                 So, because of that pilot, and,

         16  again, that's a very, very large pilot, that's where

         17  the 235,000 number came from last year. This year we

         18  are again working with every elementary school that

         19  has a dedicated physical education teacher, and that

         20  number has risen actually, closer to 650 schools now

         21  have a dedicated physical education teacher at the

         22  elementary school level, and we're expanding this to

         23  200 secondary schools. So, that's a mix of middle

         24  schools and high schools.

         25                 The other thing that we did this year
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          2  was we created two test administrations so schools

          3  would have flexibility. So, if schools really wanted

          4  to do this right at the start of the school year,

          5  they were able to start the assessment in September,

          6  which closes in December 15th, they have a

          7  three-month period to really introduce this and

          8  incorporate it into their teaching, and then reports

          9  will go out at the end of January, prior to parent

         10  teacher conferences at the elementary and middle

         11  school level.

         12                 Schools that choose to participate in

         13  the second test administration will begin their

         14  assessments in January and that will close early May

         15  -- I'm sorry, early April and then reports will be

         16  distributed in May.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So, as I

         18  hear you, it started as a pilot, a few years ago.

         19                 MS. BENSON: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: And then

         21  you needed ways to find ways to integrate it more

         22  fully into the DOE apparatus to be able to make it

         23  usable and as you said, to be able to push a button

         24  that will have all that data readily available to

         25  the DOE; is that right?
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          2                 MS. BENSON: Absolutely.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: All right.

          4  So, 650 elementary schools today have a PE teacher.

          5  How many elementary schools do not?

          6                 MS. BENSON: Well, when our office was

          7  created and the work we've done over the last three

          8  years started, I would have to say that a little

          9  less than 85 percent of elementary schools had a PE

         10  teacher. The number that we're close to now is

         11  getting towards 94 percent. So, with around 700

         12  elementary schools, there is still a handful that

         13  are without.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So, that's

         15  50 without a PE teacher. What is the plan for

         16  reaching all of the elementary schools. I know you

         17  have -- one of the things which I'm interested in is

         18  I see the goal to get to 500,000 by the end of this

         19  school year, of course as you evaluate the students

         20  themselves who you evaluated in the first round are

         21  getting older, and are maybe developing certain bad

         22  habits, or not taking care themselves appropriately

         23  or not doing appropriate physical activity, I guess

         24  really what I'm curious about is what is the plan to

         25  get this to be a situation where all elementary
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          2  school students have this evaluation, the

          3  information is sent to parents and maybe it is done

          4  in a rather routine way so parents can know the

          5  status or that children themselves can understand

          6  what their personal physical situation is.

          7                 MS. BENSON: Absolutely, the goal is

          8  that this is systemic and routine and that we built

          9  the capacity so that every student within our system

         10  does receive a FitnessGram report annually. That's

         11  the goal.

         12                 Really within three years of having

         13  no formal assessment whatsoever in physical

         14  education, to get to the point where if we can reach

         15  half the students roughly in our system this year,

         16  it's really an incredible effort and we continue to

         17  strive at that pace.

         18                 You know, for about three decades

         19  there hasn't been a lot of talk about physical

         20  education. There hasn't been a lot of outreach to

         21  principals, there hasn't been sort of support

         22  specifically for those schools that may not have a

         23  typical gym, they may, you know, have a very small

         24  school, or four schools within the building. So,

         25  with our regional directors of fitness and physical
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          2  education, our regional coordinators, which these

          3  folks never existed, having nearly 25 people

          4  Citywide focusing on this 100 percent of the time,

          5  there are still a lot of schools, that ratio is

          6  still quite high. They are constantly visiting

          7  schools daily, reaching out to parent coordinators,

          8  principals conferences, assistant principals

          9  conferences, superintendents meetings, that we can

         10  get the word out and also use this data, not just

         11  because it's good for kids, but let's look at the

         12  data, how can we use it to shape instruction? How

         13  can we use this to support overall learning? Because

         14  there is evidence that it does.

         15                 You know, it's not just about keeping

         16  kids busy, happy and good. It's truly about, as you

         17  were mentioning, educating the students and the

         18  families to begin to take ownership and be empowered

         19  over their own personal fitness.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: So, what's

         21  the goal, if the DOE were to say today that there is

         22  a goal of achieving this for elementary school

         23  students with a once-a-year evaluation going about

         24  the student and the parent. By when do you think you

         25  would be able to accomplish that?
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          2                 MS. BENSON: Our goal is to reach this

          3  next school year.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: By the end

          5  of the next year.

          6                 MS. BENSON: By the end of the

          7  2007/2008 school year. That is our aggressive goal.

          8                 Obviously it will be more difficult

          9  in schools where there isn't a dedicated physical

         10  education teacher, but we've enlisted other partners

         11  like the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene,

         12  who I must say, without their support this would not

         13  have moved as aggressively as it has.

         14                 To help us work within the schools,

         15  to provide additional staffing to assess students,

         16  particularly in areas where we may not have a PE

         17  teacher, you know, ideally again next school year,

         18  but this probably would be, I would say a three-year

         19  process.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Is this as

         21  simple as just giving a PE teacher the software

         22  necessary to be able to, you know, make a

         23  determination of whether or not a student could do

         24  100 push-ups, or is it more complicated than that,

         25  or do you need to train the PE teachers or
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          2  extensively to be able to provide the right data?

          3                 I mean, we also want to make sure

          4  that whatever is communicated to parents and

          5  students is actually correct, and I appreciate the

          6  pace of which this has been rolled out and it's an

          7  impressive and very quick pace, but it does raise a

          8  question about accuracy and training as well.

          9                 What sort of methods are used for

         10  that?

         11                 MS. BENSON: Sure. Well, you know, as

         12  in any other subject area, physical educators need

         13  ongoing and meaningful professional development, and

         14  I just need to reiterate that has never happened for

         15  decades. Phys.ed teachers were just sort of left

         16  alone to just manage students in the gymnasium.

         17                 In terms of implementing NYC

         18  FitnessGram, it is a multi-layered approach. We

         19  trained all teachers in how to use computers,

         20  because we had to start there.

         21                 We trained teachers in how to do that

         22  actual assessments in the gymnasium in a way that's

         23  developmentally appropriate and not threatening.

         24  It's absolutely not about doing 100 push-ups, and

         25  it's not about students competing against other
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          2  students. It's about shifting the culture so that

          3  students set personal goals against their own

          4  achievements.

          5                 You may be familiar with the

          6  Presidential Fitness Test. Some of us may have not

          7  so fond memories. Some of us maybe more athletic may

          8  have. I definitely did not have very fond memories

          9  of that assessment when I was the chubby kid that I

         10  was. But the Presidential Fitness Test compares

         11  students to other students. It's a norm reference

         12  test.

         13                 FitnessGram is a criterion reference

         14  assessment that creates a healthy fitness zone. So,

         15  it's not about doing 25 push-ups to get your name on

         16  the wall. It's about doing what's appropriate for --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: I

         18  understand. And let me say, I saw the form that you

         19  had in our blue folder, which it's like a doctor's

         20  report. You say here's the normal range, here's

         21  extraordinary range, or here is where you may have

         22  to focus. And what is very appealing about it is one

         23  of them directs it specifically to the student which

         24  says, hey, you know what? When it comes to aerobic

         25  or one of the other categories, you might want to
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          2  work on doing this, that or the other thing, which I

          3  think is very good. But I guess really my question

          4  is about what do you do for the PE teachers, and you

          5  said that you give them the training to be able to

          6  develop non-threatening means to evaluate it. How is

          7  that done? Do you bring all 650 of them into a room

          8  together? Do you send members of your own staff out

          9  to individually train? How does that happen?

         10                 MS. BENSON: It's multi-layered. So we

         11  have regional directors and coordinators in every

         12  part of the City and District 75. We each have

         13  monthly and bi-monthly professional development for

         14  all PE teachers in elementary and middle schools. We

         15  work with high school teachers through their

         16  assistant principals of health and physical

         17  education, and directly during Citywide professional

         18  development days, like the first day before students

         19  come back in September, Election Day, January

         20  Regents Week and June Regents Week.

         21                 We probably offer more than -- I'll

         22  have to get back with you with the exact number, but

         23  thousands of professional development opportunities

         24  throughout the course of the year. Some of them are

         25  during school hours, many of them and most of them
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          2  are after school. They're also on Saturdays and

          3  Sundays. We take advantage of every opportunity to

          4  bring teachers together.

          5                 And so, for example, while we train

          6  all of our PE teachers for Physical Best curriculum,

          7  just last Saturday we had a training for new

          8  teachers because we have new teachers that come into

          9  the system.

         10                 So, there is a system in place

         11  throughout the regional directors and coordinators

         12  and the central office to have this ongoing

         13  oversight. And then if the teacher really needs that

         14  extra help or modeling, there are those school

         15  visits to compliment that as needed.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay, thank

         17  you.

         18                 And if I just could ask Mr. Berkowitz

         19  just a question about the milk for a second,

         20  specifically in considering Reso 267-A.  In your

         21  view, just so I understand, since you have made the

         22  changes to make it no, or lower fat, or no-flavored

         23  milk, what level of decrease have you seen in

         24  consumption, if any, from your perspective?

         25                 I've seen numbers of five to 15
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          2  percent, what is your view of the decrease in

          3  consumption as a result of the changes that you have

          4  implemented?

          5                 MR. BERKOWITZ: We are seeing a ten

          6  percent decline in milk consumption.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Ten percent

          8  total decline since what point?

          9                 MR. BERKOWITZ: From the time we

         10  started, looking at it eight, nine months later.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay, well,

         12  that raises the question. I think that the

         13  resolution is intended to address a concern out

         14  there about the negative health effects of the

         15  decrease in consumption of milk, and I think that is

         16  a real question and I think you even acknowledge

         17  that in your testimony.

         18                 My question to you would be, one,

         19  what steps are being taken to compensate for the

         20  absence of calcium in the diets of the students as a

         21  result of the ten percent decline? And how concerned

         22  are you about the overall decline in milk

         23  consumption in the school?

         24                 MR. BERKOWITZ: We would prefer not to

         25  see a decline. We would like children to drink milk,
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          2  low-fat milks, frankly unflavored milks, so we're

          3  all concerned about it, and it's something we

          4  certainly monitor, that, as well as participation.

          5  As I addressed earlier, we are seeing participation

          6  increase.

          7                 Now, in terms of looking at the

          8  different issues, we view that obesity and diabetes

          9  is a bigger problem than calcium. Although we're

         10  certainly concerned about it, we want children to

         11  get their calcium. And there are other ways in the

         12  menu that they can achieve this, through yogurt,

         13  which I described earlier, through green vegetables,

         14  through other dairy and cheese products. So, there's

         15  other ways they can get that.

         16                 But the other things we're doing is

         17  we do want to see kids continue to drink their milk,

         18  but what we're trying to do is social marketing and

         19  promoting it in a number of ways.

         20                 One, everyone has a role in this,

         21  certainly parents have a role in this, they play a

         22  key role in this.

         23                 The other thing, let me point out,

         24  the DOH is doing a phenomenal job in terms of

         25  working with local communities and they've done a
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          2  tremendous amount of outreach, especially in the

          3  Bronx, and now they're moving in other areas with

          4  bodegas. Traditionally bodegas did not serve low-fat

          5  milks. And they've worked very closely with bodegas

          6  which compliment the program in New York City

          7  schools, and they're working with them to offer

          8  these kind of products. And parents are buying it so

          9  that children would see it at home.

         10                 The other things we're doing is

         11  encouraging it. We have these partnership meetings

         12  that I described earlier. Managers meet with

         13  students and parents and principal designees and

         14  talk about these subjects. And the other thing,

         15  we're coming, rolling out a whole new program of

         16  signage and posters talking about health and fitness

         17  and low-fat milks. As I said earlier, if we do those

         18  kinds of things, I'm confident, just like with the

         19  whole wheat bread, we're going to see these numbers

         20  continue to climb.

         21                 In Region 1 in the Bronx there's been

         22  some very good work done. We've worked closely with

         23  Montefiore Hospital, with Health Hearts

         24  Organization, with the DOH has representatives, and

         25  what we find is when you combine education,
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          2  nutrition education, and have people talking about

          3  the subject, we do see the numbers climb and we have

          4  seen over one and a half percent increase there.

          5                 So, we're confident if there are

          6  meetings, if there are discussions, if there is

          7  social marketing on the subject, that we're doing to

          8  continue to see these numbers climb.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK: Okay. I

         10  think that's the end of my time. So, let me just

         11  thank you. Jus as I hear what you are saying, and

         12  then I'm going to give the microphone back to the

         13  Chairman, you're much, it sounds to me like you are

         14  more concerned about the issue of obesity than the

         15  absence of calcium, but it seems to me that there is

         16  a real issue there about how to compensate for that

         17  and to really encourage either milk consumption or

         18  foods that are rich in calcium or to, of course, the

         19  issue of considering flavored milks or other things.

         20  It's clear to me that with a ten percent decline

         21  there is certainly an issue here, but I will not

         22  abuse my privilege.

         23                 And thank you, Mr. Chairman. I do

         24  appreciate the time that you gave me.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You're welcome.

                                                            66

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 Next we'll hear from Peter Vallone,

          3  Jr. of Queens.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you.

          5  Let me first thank you, Mr. Chair. This is a very

          6  important topic and I'm very happy that you're

          7  having a hearing on it.

          8                 Nutrition in schools is very

          9  important to me on two levels. Number one, nutrition

         10  in general, I'm the one who introduced the trans

         11  fat, a bill to eliminate trans fats before the City

         12  actually moved to do that, and I commend the City

         13  for its actions. I think it's a great thing. And I

         14  also have two little girls in public schools, so I'm

         15  very concerned with what they're eating when they're

         16  there.

         17                 And it's sad to say that not too long

         18  ago it was inexcusable what children were allowed to

         19  eat in schools, and you have made a great deal of

         20  progress in proving that.

         21                 You know, sometimes obesity is a

         22  child or a parent's fault. If they eat cake for

         23  lunch, that's their fault. Many times it's not. Many

         24  times a parent thinks they're putting a Nutragrain

         25  Bar in a lunch bag and that's a good thing, and if
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          2  you look at the ingredients in the Nutragrain Bar,

          3  if you add it up, the number one ingredient is high

          4  fructose corn syrup. A bar that's supposed to be

          5  nutritious grain is filled with junk. You've got to

          6  read the labels. Every child product that you see

          7  out there, every food bar pushed by Sponge Bob or

          8  whoever, filled with crap, not the literal Taco

          9  Bell-type crap, but just junk. But you've got to

         10  read this stuff. And kids don't. They see it on TV.

         11  It's healthy, it's not healthy, parents think it's

         12  healthy, and so it's up to us, it's up to the

         13  schools to provide the healthy food, and that's why

         14  I'm so happy we're doing this today.

         15                 I want to commend the fact that you

         16  don't -- I'm looking at page, it's two or three,

         17  that you don't allow artificial colors or flavors of

         18  sweeteners. That is so important. That's the next

         19  big scandal to hit this country. Aspartame breaks

         20  down in the body to formaldehyde. Highly toxic.

         21  Sucrolose, we could go on for hours, days about the

         22  dangers of sucrolose. No one should be having that

         23  stuff, and especially not our kids. Especially not

         24  our kids, and you've already eliminated that, and

         25  that's very, that bodes very well.
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          2                 High fructose corn syrup, though,

          3  another poison. It's the most fattening type of

          4  syrup. It's the cheapest because the federal

          5  government once again is run by the food industry,

          6  and our farmers produce corn because they're paid

          7  to, and they have nothing else to do with this corn

          8  other than to turn it into this junk which is high

          9  fructose corn syrup. It's the most fattening, it's

         10  toxic, it's actually addictive and it's given to our

         11  kids.

         12                 If a kid drinks a can of soda, there

         13  can be as much as 13 teaspoons of high fructose corn

         14  syrup. Yogurt, by the way, you have to be very

         15  careful about what yogurt you're eating, ten

         16  teaspoons of high fructose corn syrup in a low-fat

         17  yogurt. Because it's a fat in high fructose corn

         18  syrup.

         19                 So, you mentioned that you restrict

         20  the use of high fructose corn syrup, I'm concerned

         21  about what that means, restrict? It shouldn't be

         22  there at all, so what does restrict mean?

         23                 As an example, Snapple. I haven't

         24  looked in awhile at what's in Snapple, because I

         25  don't drink it because it's junk. But it's in our
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          2  schools. So, what Snapple could it possibly be

          3  that's given to our kids that doesn't have high

          4  fructose corn syrup? So, I just wanted you to talk

          5  about that.

          6                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Right. First, in terms

          7  of the Snapple, it's part of the vending program. I

          8  don't have any responsibility for that program. I

          9  have responsibility for the breakfast, lunch

         10  program, so I really can't talk too much about that.

         11                 In terms of the issues you raised,

         12  and I think you said it better than I could, in

         13  terms of reading the labeling in the packaging in

         14  terms of parents do need to be very careful in terms

         15  of what their kids eat, and again, that's why we are

         16  very stringent in terms of the kind of foods and the

         17  ingredients in the foods, as well as all of our

         18  proteins, before they hit a school we have lab

         19  reports on them to make sure that they're as healthy

         20  as they can be.

         21                 In terms of the yogurt, again, we

         22  went from a low-fat yogurt to a nonfat yogurt, and

         23  now it has zero high fructose corn syrup. So, we've

         24  actually taken it out, and that has been putting

         25  pressure on this company, which we're pleased is a
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          2  New York State company that's been able to do it,

          3  using our volume to make them do what we want to do.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: That's

          5  exactly my point. If we lead the way here, if we

          6  provide a market for good foods, people will rush to

          7  fill that market. We look at trans fats, look at

          8  throughout the country now every major chain is

          9  rushing to take trans fats out because they have to

         10  meet the New York City market, and if they have to

         11  meet the New York City school market to begin with,

         12  they will start producing better foods. And it's

         13  very encouraging to hear. So, continue. Sorry.

         14                 MR. BERKOWITZ: So, we're continuing

         15  to look at all of the products. All of our products

         16  manufacturers take a little longer. Even the yogurt,

         17  it took a number of months for them to develop and

         18  change the sweetener they were using, the high

         19  fructose corn syrup to eliminate it. So, there is a

         20  process that's something that sometimes takes

         21  months.

         22                 What I can tell you is we're looking

         23  at every product in terms of reducing saturated fat,

         24  high fructose corn syrup, sodium and so on. We're

         25  very aggressively looking at those things. As I
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          2  said, we did it in all of our snack items in the

          3  high schools. So, I think we'll continue to

          4  eliminate it, and I totally agree with what you

          5  said. You know, many of these things, we want to be

          6  very careful. We don't even use artificial

          7  sweeteners, because we're concerned about what that

          8  does to food. Because a lot of companies, what

          9  they're doing is taking out the sugar and putting in

         10  the Splendor. You can't pick up anything today that

         11  doesn't have the Splendor in it.

         12                 Just one of the side points I wanted

         13  to mention, the Snapple does meet the current

         14  guidelines. I just wanted to share that information

         15  with you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: So does trans

         17  fat. That's not a good thing.

         18                 So, I'm very encouraged by almost 99

         19  percent of what I heard, except for the fact that

         20  the Executive Director of School Food doesn't have a

         21  say in what our kids drink out of their vending

         22  machines; is that what you said?

         23                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Yes. As I said, that

         24  is not under my jurisdiction. I'm responsible for

         25  the breakfast and lunch program, the supper program
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          2  and summer program.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Well, okay,

          4  who is responsible? What do kids drink out of the

          5  vending machines?

          6                 MR. BERKOWITZ: That report is up to

          7  the Chief Executive Marty Oestreicher.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Chief

          9  Executive of what?

         10                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Support Services.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Shouldn't

         12  there be some sort of nutritional input into what

         13  our kids are drinking out of the machines?

         14                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Certainly if kids are

         15  drinking it, it should be part of everything we look

         16  at.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Well, Mr.

         18  Chair, I would ask that we actually take some action

         19  in that regard, to insist that what our children are

         20  drinking is reviewed by the Executive Director of

         21  School Food, and people with a nutrition background,

         22  as opposed to people who are looking at the bottom

         23  line of money, which is what the Chief Executive

         24  Officer, or whoever he is, does. That's disturbing

         25  actually.
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          2                 Again, though, I don't want to take

          3  away from what you're doing. I'm just looking at

          4  this chart here. You're making so much progress

          5  telling kids to snack on healthy foods is a good

          6  thing. Snacking throughout the day is good. This

          7  three meal stuff we hear is not good. Eating as many

          8  nuts, fruits, all day long and just looking at this

          9  chart that probably no one else could read, only

         10  because I'm right in front of it, lot's of good

         11  things that we've never heard before. That's what

         12  you guys are doing and it's very impressive, and I

         13  don't want to take up too much time, but I do want

         14  to work with you to make sure kids are actually

         15  drinking healthy things also as opposed to eating

         16  it, and any help we can be, we're here to do that.

         17  So, thank you for everything you're doing.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you,

         19  Council Member Vallone.

         20                 We'll hear from Council Member Bill

         21  DeBlasio from Brooklyn.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Thank you

         23  very much. I appreciate my colleague Peter Vallone

         24  raising the Snapple issue. That's one of the things

         25  I'd like to talk about for a moment, too. But very
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          2  quickly I'm going to respect the chairs trying to

          3  keep our time situation tight here.

          4                 First of all, I do want to say I

          5  commend both of you for the work you're doing in

          6  general. I really appreciate the changes that have

          7  been made in the big picture. And I want to tell

          8  you, Ms. Benson, that my daughter at MS 51 and my

          9  son at PS 372 actually like gym a lot. I get to hear

         10  about all these unique new games they pay, these new

         11  age things that they do, and they truly enjoy it.

         12  So, we've come a long way.

         13                 First let me ask about the resolution

         14  itself. In the resolution we're calling for a

         15  regular analysis of what's happening with

         16  consumption levels and how policies are affecting

         17  consumption.

         18                 Do you agree with the idea of this

         19  resolution that you should be analyzing the impact

         20  of your policies on consumption, reporting it to us,

         21  and evaluating whether your policies need change as

         22  a result of what you find?

         23                 MR. BERKOWITZ: We don't comment on

         24  resolutions.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: I see your
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          2  lawyer got you quickly there.

          3                 How about the general concepts

          4  embodied in the resolution?

          5                 MR. BERKOWITZ: In terms of the

          6  measurement part of your question, there is

          7  absolutely no question we will monitor and continue

          8  to monitor as we have. Because, again, we don't want

          9  to see milk declining. We want to see kids have

         10  milk, low-fat milk, and other forms of vegetables

         11  and dairy products to get their calcium. So,

         12  absolutely, we monitor that very closely. As I said,

         13  nutrition is at the core of what we do. That is the

         14  number one thing we look at in School Food. So, we

         15  pay a great deal of attention to that. We don't take

         16  any of that lightly. We talk to a lot of

         17  nutritionists, we talk to a tremendous amount of

         18  parents.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Are you

         20  ready to regularly analyze the trends you see,

         21  report them to us, and reassess whether your policy

         22  is the right policy in light of reduced consumption?

         23                 MR. BERKOWITZ: We think looking at

         24  the information and discussing with you, certainly

         25  we think that's important. We continue to look at
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          2  that information. We do think after looking at it,

          3  looking at what we're doing nutritionally, we think

          4  it's best to educate the kids and use all our

          5  resources in terms of educating parents, children

          6  about drinking low-fat milks, eating healthier

          7  foods, and not trying to educate them on the

          8  flavors. I think long-term that's not going to be

          9  helpful.

         10                 I think eventually, you know, we'd

         11  like to see the day we could move them off chocolate

         12  skim. We don't think that's this week or next month,

         13  but if we can get to the point where kids are not

         14  going to the flavors, I think, I hope we can all

         15  agree that would be great if we have milk with less

         16  sugar.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: But in light

         18  of the fact that you see evolution as a way of

         19  looking at this, I think that where the disagreement

         20  came in was you took a very substantial step here

         21  without a real process or dialogue with the larger

         22  community, and it has proven not to work.

         23                 So, I think if you had said, well,

         24  how do we do this in stages, that would have been

         25  one discussion.
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          2                 I can tell you that I'm the first to

          3  say, you know, a picture of Derek Jeeter certainly

          4  is helpful in promoting the idea to a lot of kids,

          5  but it's not enough to change their experience. And

          6  my question is, why didn't you do this more clearly

          7  in the delineated stages and then test after each

          8  stage, and why shouldn't you now go back a step or

          9  two? Because ten percent drop in consumption is just

         10  too radical. Just too much.

         11                 So, you know, since you do it before,

         12  let me ask it the more positive way: Would you

         13  consider taking a couple of steps back here and

         14  stretching out your transition and seeing if you can

         15  keep milk consumption at a high level, rather than

         16  accepting a ten percent drop?

         17                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Well, we would not

         18  like to move backward. What we would like to do is

         19  to do the things we're talking about in terms of

         20  education, social marketing, talking to parents,

         21  working with each school.

         22                 And as you said, let's monitor the

         23  results, let's continue to do so, and we're also

         24  monitoring participation, which is growing. So, I

         25  agree. We should, as you said, continue to look at
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          2  the results, and continue to encourage the kids to

          3  get calcium from other foods, and I'm confident that

          4  I'm going to see what happened in whole wheat that

          5  the amount of milk we serve will grow. And the same

          6  thing, you know, we do with other products, you

          7  know, like pizza, we've lowered the fat in those

          8  products. And, you know, you always have a concern

          9  you're going to turn some kids off, but overall we

         10  find the kids coming back, and the big picture is we

         11  really need to teach them how to eat healthy.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Well, look,

         13  I don't want to just keep repeating each other. The

         14  bottom line in my view is milk is unlike almost any

         15  other food in its fundamental nature as sort of a

         16  backbone of the nutritional system. I think it has

         17  been forever essentially. And I guess the way I

         18  would look at things is if you see a ten percent

         19  drop, you adjust to get your consumption up and then

         20  you try different pieces that are not going to have

         21  such a radical effect.

         22                 We don't know that ten percent drop

         23  is not going to be a 15 percent drop, you know, the

         24  next time you come here. So, I obviously disagree.

         25  But I think you have a year of data telling you
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          2  something went wrong, and I would have thought you

          3  would say let's adjust right now, try something else

          4  for awhile to get the consumption up, and then, you

          5  know, tweak it from there. And it sounds like what

          6  you're saying respectfully is we're accepting the

          7  ten percent drop. We don't know if it's going on for

          8  one year, five years, whatever, we're accepting it,

          9  it's happened, and we're going to try and work with

         10  it, but we're not willing to do the things that

         11  worked before to get kids to drink milk.

         12                 MR. BERKOWITZ: As I said, I think

         13  we're doing a number of things. I think the numbers

         14  are going to go up. I would share your concern if

         15  that number continued to climb. I don't think that's

         16  the case.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: So, if you

         18  came back here in three months and the numbers were

         19  stable, you would think maybe my point has a little

         20  more merit?

         21                 MR. BERKOWITZ: I think, as you said,

         22  we need to look at what's happening with the

         23  numbers. Absolutely.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Well, I'm

         25  going to ask the Chair to certainly bring you back.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Let me just ask

          3  a question on that.

          4                 You indicated in a response to a

          5  letter from Council Member DeBlasio or DOE, that the

          6  numbers had dropped off ten percent. What is that

          7  based on? Is that based on the numbers of containers

          8  of milk handed out? Or is it based on, what is it

          9  based on? Because some kids may take the milk, and

         10  you know what happens, it's on their tray and then

         11  they dump it, but your ten percent is based on what

         12  was given out; is that correct?

         13                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Yes --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How do you base

         15  your statistics on it?

         16                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Chair, what we look at

         17  is actually what we purchase. The easiest way for us

         18  to look at it, rather than compiling it at every

         19  school. And you're point is well taken.

         20                 One of the things we're trying to do

         21  is to reduce plate waste, not only for milk but for

         22  other products. The more we make it more attractive,

         23  the more we make it tasty, we hope, less food is

         24  going to go in the garbage.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. So, it's
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          2  based on what you purchased. Assuming that a school

          3  of 1,200 students, they get how many containers of

          4  milk a day?

          5                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Depending on the size,

          6  could be hundreds.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. So, let's

          8  assume their daily distribution is 1,000, 1,000 go

          9  into their schools every single day, are there

         10  normally left-overs and they keep them in the

         11  refrigerator? What do they do? Do they throw them

         12  away? What is the process?

         13                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Yes, the process is,

         14  once a child takes a milk, we use it.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Right, it's

         16  thrown in the garbage.

         17                 MR. BERKOWITZ: For a safety

         18  situation.

         19                 We do monitor, and one of the things

         20  we're going to be doing a closer study on is plate

         21  waste that you mentioned. Milk is put on the table

         22  in many schools, and a child that wants another milk

         23  can go up and get that milk. So, we certainly want

         24  to reduce the waste.

         25                 They're not allowed, by rules of the
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          2  federal government, to take it off the premises, but

          3  they certainly can have it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But what if the

          5  staff, assuming that you get 1,000 containers a day,

          6  and they only give out let's say 800, what happens

          7  to the other 200?

          8                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Well, it's all kept in

          9  the refrigerator at an appropriate temperature so

         10  that bacteria doesn't grow, and that is used again.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Used the next

         12  day?

         13                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Sure.

         14                 Any milk that goes out on a table and

         15  the temperatures were reduced, we would not use

         16  again. Only the milk that's in a refrigerator, of

         17  course, would be continued to be used.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And who

         19  determines the actual number of containers of milk

         20  for a particular school in that example I gave? Who

         21  makes that determination? For example, how many do I

         22  need in order to fulfill my daily consumption?

         23                 MR. BERKOWITZ: We have a manager of

         24  the school and working with their staff they track

         25  how many meals they serve each day and they also
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          2  track how much milk they need and they place the

          3  orders. So, based on the inventory they have left

          4  each day, they place an order for the following day

          5  or two.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, if a milk is

          7  put out by the staff for a two-hour period, is that

          8  safe to say? If the milk is behind the counter where

          9  they give it out and it's out for an hour or two

         10  hours, some of the lunch periods run from ten in the

         11  morning to 1:30 in the afternoon, and some schools

         12  even longer than that. What happens to the milk

         13  which is out for more than two hours?

         14                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Well, all of the milk

         15  is not left out. We keep it in what we call a milk

         16  glow rater (phonetic), which is a milk refrigerator.

         17  So, we work very hard because food safety is very

         18  important, to be sure that the milk is kept at the

         19  appropriate temperature.

         20                 So, we're very careful about that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Good. Let me

         22  turn it back over to my colleague, Bill DeBlasio.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         24  Mr. Chairman. I'll be brief with a final few

         25  questions.
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          2                 One, just philosophical point but

          3  I've got to get clear on whether we agree or not.

          4  I've got a quote from the 2005 Dietary Guidelines

          5  for Americans, it's published every five years by

          6  Department of Health and Human Services and USDA.

          7                 It says, "In some cases small amounts

          8  of sugar is added to nutrient dense foods, such as

          9  breakfast cereals and reduced fat milk products, may

         10  increase a person's intake of such foods by

         11  enhancing the palatability of these products, thus

         12  improving nutrient intake without contributing

         13  excessive calories."

         14                 In their own eloquent way, they're

         15  saying what I'm saying in layman's terms, if you

         16  recognize a livable compromise that's actually going

         17  to get kids to drink milk, that means the nutrients

         18  are getting into their bodies. If you don't, they

         19  potentially drink something much worse.

         20                 Do you agree with the basic

         21  philosophy expressed in those guidelines?

         22                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Certainly approve of

         23  what the Guidelines say. Keep in mind, let's put

         24  this in perspective, we are serving a flavored milk,

         25  chocolate, and we think it's a very good tasting
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          2  chocolate milk, and with moderate levels of sugar,

          3  and so I think the big disagreement, if you will,

          4  respectfully is you may want to see more flavors,

          5  and we think, let's keep the chocolate, we're not

          6  trying to eliminate the chocolate today, we don't

          7  think our children are ready for that transition.

          8  But let's teach them over a period of time to know

          9  how to eat and drink healthy, and to go to the lower

         10  fat milks. Our breakfast cereals are all low in

         11  sugar.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Like my

         13  friends at the USDA, I'm talking about quote/unquote

         14  palatability. I think that's the bottom line. I

         15  think skim chocolate, like every other skim, you

         16  know, is not necessarily palatable to a lot of

         17  people, has a kind of watery flavor. That doesn't

         18  mean it's not good, it means it doesn't, it's not

         19  necessarily going to be chosen by kids and your

         20  consumption numbers suggest that. So, there's a

         21  question of why not do other flavors that were

         22  popular, the question of why not do chocolate milk

         23  with a little bit of fat content.

         24                 Chair Jackson was just saying, let's

         25  confirm, the only thing you're providing is skim
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          2  chocolate and I'm not clear if that's five days a

          3  week and that's all schools or that's select schools

          4  or some days. Could you clarify that?

          5                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Yes. We serve in all

          6  schools, other than that, I'll tell you about a

          7  pilot in a second, one percent milk, skim milk, and

          8  skim chocolate.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: All the

         10  schools five days a week?

         11                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Five days a week, I'm

         12  sorry.

         13                 As I mentioned earlier, we do have a

         14  pilot in the South Bronx in a number of schools

         15  where we're reviewing data in terms of serving it

         16  either one day a week or three days a week. And let

         17  me say, the reason this came about, working with, as

         18  I said, doctors at Montefiore Hospital, groups like

         19  Healthy Heart, the Department of Health, and most

         20  importantly parents. Parents are saying to us, I

         21  have to tell you, parents are saying loud and clear,

         22  give our kids less sugar. So --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Well, I

         24  think parents are saying loud and clear, as well,

         25  make sure our kids are drinking milk and make sure
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          2  they're not turning away from it, and certainly make

          3  sure they're not drinking soda or the wrong kind of

          4  Snapple.

          5                 And I think the point that Council

          6  Member Vallone raised, I don't understand how we

          7  want to leave the door open to a kid being

          8  dissatisfied to milk choices and then they go to the

          9  Snapple machine, or they bring soda, or you know,

         10  sugar water beverages in from outside.

         11                 Again, I think as a parent, the most

         12  natural thing in the world is to strike a balance,

         13  strike a compromise, a little sugar, a little fat,

         14  but they're drinking milk, not something that's made

         15  up solely of sugar.

         16                 And, you know, the Snapple issue is a

         17  bit of a contradiction on that front.

         18                 So, you know, we obviously disagree

         19  on this. Let me say on the parent front, I don't

         20  think you can tell me, and I say this respectfully,

         21  but I don't think you can tell me with a straight

         22  face that there was any kind of a public debate on

         23  this or any kind of real consultation with parents

         24  Citywide.

         25                 I think you guys are very
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          2  professional, and had you wanted to survey parents

          3  about what they thought and what they thought would

          4  work, you could have done that. So, I think this was

          5  done precipitously, and if you were going to pilot,

          6  I would pilot the other way. I'd see what the

          7  difference was where you had fewer choices, versus

          8  where you had more choices and then you're actually

          9  trying to be objective about what works.

         10                 Finally, you've mentioned the trends

         11  in participation, and I want to ask you if that's

         12  the same for breakfast and lunch. I'm glad there's

         13  more participation, who wouldn't be? But the real

         14  question here is what's going into the kids'

         15  stomachs and is it nutritious and is it all the

         16  items we want, including milk and dairy products and

         17  calcium?

         18                 Is lunch also experiencing a

         19  substantial increase in the ADP, the average daily

         20  participation?

         21                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Yes, we are seeing

         22  that increase as well, not in the levels --

         23  breakfast has been an unbelievable climb. Obviously

         24  we introduced three years ago, the Mayor introduced

         25  the free breakfast program, and that's been a
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          2  phenomenal success. So, that's huge. Lunch has not

          3  been at that level, but is increasing.

          4                 One other point, just recently in the

          5  last two months, the Alliance for a Healthier

          6  Generation at Randolf High School in New York made a

          7  big announcement, in terms of new guidelines in

          8  working with corporations to come up with healthier

          9  foods. And they also suggest the low-fat milks and

         10  the proponent of that.

         11                 The only other analogy I could say,

         12  again, because I think we have some disagreement on

         13  this, because although we want to get to the same

         14  place, I could serve a fatter pizza every day of the

         15  week and my numbers will go up. Serve more kids.

         16  It's a bit of a balancing act. But we're trying to

         17  serve lower fat pizzas, as well as healthier foods.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Bottom line

         19  here, look, first, I think you should go back to the

         20  drawing board and engage parents across the City,

         21  and I thank the Chair for fostering this debate

         22  because I think it's something parents need to know

         23  about, need to weigh in on. And secondly, you know,

         24  I think if we were back on Bloomberg LLP and

         25  something became ten percent less profitable, I
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          2  imagine there would have been a reverse force on

          3  that. So, I make that point to say when you have a

          4  ten percent drop in consumption, I would think the

          5  first thing managers would do is say, wow, that

          6  wasn't what we intended, let's take a few steps back

          7  here and try and adjust this and see what works. So,

          8  I leave you with that thought, and I thank you.

          9                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you. Next

         11  we'll hear from Melinda Katz from Queens. My

         12  colleague Al Vann had joined us earlier, and my

         13  colleague of Brooklyn, David Yassky, also. Council

         14  Member Katz of Queens.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you very

         16  much for being here. It is a very important topic,

         17  clearly to the Council members and the constituents

         18  we represent.

         19                 I just have a few questions, I guess.

         20  Children are creatures of habit, clearly, they are

         21  creatures of their environment, they learn from

         22  their parents, they learn from their families, they

         23  learn from their friends before they even step food

         24  in a New York City public school. And I think that

         25  that's an important acknowledgment to make.
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          2                 I am, unlike some of my colleagues,

          3  probably not as forceful in my views as mandating

          4  what, you know, men and women of the City of New

          5  York eat and drink on a daily basis, which is

          6  interesting to me because my great concern truly is,

          7  though, what the children are eating in our school

          8  systems.

          9                 So, I do believe in great choice

         10  outside the school system, but I do think that

         11  especially the children that are eating breakfasts,

         12  because it's a free breakfast, those parents that go

         13  for the lunches, and maybe are under the poverty

         14  level, and they are having free lunches, and they

         15  are relying on that for their nutrition for the

         16  children. So, I do think it's sort of a different

         17  responsibility the Department of Education has.

         18                 So, I have a few questions on that.

         19  A, I heard you speak a lot about the parents, and I

         20  appreciate the fact that we're trying to involve

         21  them, but I'd like to know how.

         22                 Is there an outreach to kids,

         23  especially children that have younger siblings that

         24  maybe are still at home, those parents should learn

         25  from a very young age, their children at a young
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          2  age, the proper way of eating. Because I think every

          3  parent wants to do the best for their kids. And then

          4  you won't have a drop-off in fat-free milk when it

          5  comes to the schools when they're four or five years

          6  old, because these kids will be used to it. So, I

          7  think that that's number one. I'd like to know

          8  exactly what we're doing with the parents.

          9                 Number two, obesity can come from

         10  several reasons. One could be the eating habits. The

         11  other could be the physiological problem with the

         12  child, you know, medical condition, something that's

         13  wrong in the house, something like that. So, I'd be

         14  curious to know that if you do find a child that is

         15  medically obese, and I don't just mean overweight, I

         16  mean medically obese, what is the standard that

         17  happens in the school, to reach out to the parents,

         18  or to reach out to the child for that.

         19                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Well, that's something

         20  we can do. That's up to the parent working with the

         21  nurse. A nurse can be very helpful with particular

         22  issues, working with the principal.

         23                 What we do in terms of school food,

         24  is communicating about menu and overall nutrition.

         25  We're not involved in teaching nutrition in every
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          2  school, of course, but our role is getting out to

          3  the community, how to reach us, how to talk about

          4  issues or concerns, telling some of the initiatives

          5  we're working on. And part of that is through

          6  partnership meetings, as I mentioned earlier, where

          7  we encourage managers to meet with principals or

          8  designating parent coordinators, and parents and

          9  students and talk about the issues of the school,

         10  because every school is different as we have so many

         11  diverse communities, and so many different issues.

         12  So, we encourage these partnership meetings.

         13                 Again, this overall wellness policy I

         14  think will help, as these health and fitness

         15  committees are set up in every school. Because the

         16  more everyone talks about it, the better off we are.

         17                 And as you said, there is a

         18  multifaceted approach. We can do so much in terms of

         19  school food. Communities have a role, schools have a

         20  role, parents have a role, corporations have a role,

         21  but we do it through these partnership meetings.

         22                 And we also, lastly, I'm sorry, also

         23  meet throughout the City with these education

         24  councils, because it's a great way to go into the

         25  community and meet with parents and let them know
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          2  who we are and who to talk to, because as I said, we

          3  have many managers, hundreds of managers through the

          4  City and each borough, we want them to know how to

          5  contact the manager of the school or the supervisor

          6  to talk about specific issues of what they like or

          7  don't like.

          8                 MS. BENSON: If I may, may I add to

          9  the obesity issue with particular students?

         10                 One of the things that we've realized

         11  is that we can't just work with physical education

         12  teachers, so we routinely meet with all of the

         13  school nurses, all of them at their yearly

         14  congregation when they're all together and talk

         15  about how we can work together and get the

         16  conversation going within the PE department and the

         17  school nurse.

         18                 In addition, we present to all the

         19  school-based physicians and the school-based health

         20  centers. So, for example, literally in last year's

         21  pilot of FitnessGram, we received a couple of phone

         22  calls from parents as a result, and you know, they

         23  said, look, I know my child is obese, I know my

         24  child is overweight, and now that I see this on

         25  paper, you know, what can I do about it? And, so, we
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          2  were able to refer them specifically to their local

          3  school-based health center, or specifically to local

          4  hospitals that have childhood obesity prevention and

          5  intervention programs.

          6                 So, we have to look at this as sort

          7  of prescriptive but also as an intervention as well.

          8  And these are sort of the elements that we're

          9  putting in place to support parents to know that

         10  there are ways that they can be supportive, and that

         11  we can support their students.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So, I guess the

         13  answer is there is a system in place, where if a

         14  child, you know, there is reasonably the child is

         15  medically overweight, you know, obese, that we are

         16  notifying the parents as to ways that they can help

         17  their children and help themselves.

         18                 MS. BENSON: Mm-hmm.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I keep hearing

         20  the word partnership like you're meeting with

         21  people, and I get that, and I think that that's a

         22  good thing. I just, I'm still unclear, however, we

         23  utilized, for instance the PAs in schools very

         24  often, or the principals or stuff to get public

         25  messages out to the parents. I mean, every kid goes
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          2  home with a letter from the teacher or from their

          3  Councilwoman or from their Assemblywoman or whatever

          4  it is, they put it in their bookbag. And I know from

          5  my experience from my friends, they know when the

          6  child gets home, they open up the bookbag and look

          7  for the letters and things like that. I guess I

          8  appreciate the meetings and the work that we're

          9  doing and that, and you're doing, and clearly we're

         10  making headway. But I would just think more that the

         11  parents are this base that's built into our system,

         12  and if they have a four-year-old or a ten-year-old

         13  in the system, the answers are pretty good, they

         14  probably have a younger child also, and if we're

         15  going to start, I think the parents are a great

         16  place to start.

         17                 So, I don't know if you do that

         18  already, but that would be the biggest suggestion I

         19  have, is that the more information, parents are real

         20  smart in figuring out what's great for their kids,

         21  and they want to do their best and if we can get

         22  that information home through the PAs, through the

         23  Principals, through letters in the mail, something

         24  like that, it's a built-in base, I think we should

         25  utilize it.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 MS. BENSON: If I could mention about

          4  physical activity programs for the very, very young,

          5  the Department of Health specifically is working

          6  with that Spark PE curriculum program that we talked

          7  about that we're doing with classroom teachers.

          8  They've done a massive effort of training of Head

          9  Start programs of community-based organizations that

         10  work with our early, early childhood students and

         11  parents so that we can get those physical activity

         12  habits, really, what you're talking about, at the

         13  very, very young stages.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         15                 Simcha Felder of Brooklyn.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: We've been

         19  joined by my colleague Miguel Martinez. He's in the

         20  front row. Of Manhattan.

         21                 Simcha Felder.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

         23  much, Mr. Chairman. And as I've said other times,

         24  it's very surprising because usually most of the

         25  Committee chairs ask all the questions and then the
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          2  members have to try to find something interesting to

          3  talk about. And the Chair here at this Committee

          4  let's everyone ask the questions, which is very,

          5  very humble, certainly.

          6                 Anyway, I feel a little awkward

          7  speaking about the topic about health and nutrition

          8  and fitness, unfortunately. But even so, you

          9  mentioned something about the bags of carrots and

         10  the bags of sliced apples, which I think are like

         11  positive ways of getting children and even adults

         12  interested in healthier foods. They look good, you

         13  know, they seem more like junk, if I can say it,

         14  because of the way it's packaged.

         15                 I wanted to just discuss a few

         16  different things. First of all, the freshness of the

         17  food. You spoke about it a little bit, but can you

         18  just elaborate somewhat about how the Department

         19  monitors to make sure that the food that you want,

         20  you know, the healthy food is fresh?

         21                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Very good question. I

         22  certainly would like to tell you some of the things

         23  we're doing because we have a very aggressive food

         24  safety program.

         25                 One, we have a group of inspectors
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          2  that go to all our distributors and check out their

          3  products, their inventories, government commodities

          4  that we receive from the government, are inspected

          5  by them, so we're in every distributor looking at

          6  products.

          7                 We also look at all of the product

          8  dates and are very careful about that. One of their

          9  roles is to audit the cans and the boxes and the

         10  frozen foods and look at expiration dates and

         11  packing dates and so on.

         12                 Also, with these high standards, we

         13  also only use graded vegetables and so on and

         14  distributors have to provide the materials that

         15  demonstrate everything is graded.

         16                 And we're also very careful about

         17  temperatures and so on, and we also have inspectors,

         18  a separate group of inspectors that go into schools

         19  and check temperatures and how the milk is being

         20  held and how the other foods are being held, doing

         21  training and audits.

         22                 So, as we see in the local news it's

         23  something that is a problem in the food industry, so

         24  we are extremely careful about food safety and take

         25  it extremely seriously.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: So, when those

          3  inspectors go to the schools, are the schools

          4  notified in advance?

          5                 MR. BERKOWITZ: No, these are surprise

          6  visits.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: And how often

          8  do schools get those inspections?

          9                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Probably, I'm just

         10  giving you an average, I don't have the numbers in

         11  front of me, it could be once every six weeks or so.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: With

         13  permission of the Chair, I'd like those numbers. And

         14  because the Health Department sends their inspectors

         15  into stores which is the way it should be to make

         16  sure that stores are doing what they're supposed to

         17  be doing. And if not, they close them down. And who

         18  gets those reports? You know, this is not a back and

         19  forth question because that's not really the topic,

         20  but I would just like to see, and, again, with

         21  permission of the Chair, to see some of the reports

         22  that have been taken. When was the last time that

         23  the board of Education went into a place and they

         24  found for the third time that stuff was laying

         25  around in the Frigidaire in an inappropriate manner?
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          2  And did they close down the, you know, get rid of

          3  the person in charge, or something like that?

          4                 When was the last time the Department

          5  took some drastic action? And I would have to

          6  believe that despite all the good work, it's not

          7  perfect. There has to be one school over the last

          8  four or five years that somebody wasn't doing what

          9  they were supposed to be doing in terms of keeping

         10  stuff safety -- if you could provide that

         11  information to the Chair, and if that could be

         12  disseminated, I'd appreciate that.

         13                 It's a hodge-podge of questions. So,

         14  how much time do children get to play?

         15                 MS. BENSON: How much time do students

         16  have physical education, or?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: No, not

         18  physical education. How much recess? We call it

         19  recess. How much time do they get to run around?

         20                 MS. BENSON: Well, at the elementary

         21  level it's recommended that students have at least

         22  20 minutes of some type of a recess throughout the

         23  school day.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Twenty minutes

         25  for the whole day?
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          2                 MS. BENSON: Because recess is not

          3  physical education. Recess would be in addition to

          4  physical education.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: What happens

          6  during recess? Do they get to run around outside?

          7                 MS. BENSON: Absolutely. Either

          8  outside or inside.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: On a nice day.

         10  If it's a nice day and it's not raining, are they

         11  taken outside?

         12                 MS. BENSON: This is what we are

         13  constantly encouraging.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: That's not

         15  enough. That's not enough for me. Because I don't

         16  think the kids get enough time to play outside.

         17                 You know, maybe this is unfair,

         18  because my mother went to public school, and the

         19  diagram is here with all the fitness programs, and

         20  just aside, I don't like the word test, so if you

         21  could consider, you don't have to form a committee

         22  about it, but maybe the word test can be eliminated.

         23  You can put something else in it, because I think

         24  the kids have enough pressure without another test

         25  about their fitness. Some other word. Just take it
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          2  out.

          3                 But I would assume that 20, 30 years

          4  ago -- I shouldn't say that. Do you know, comparing

          5  30 years ago to today, 40 years ago to today, what

          6  the numbers are? Were they more obese kids, less

          7  obese kids?

          8                 MS. BENSON: Absolutely. The trends

          9  now, we have a tremendous amount of obesity, not

         10  just here in New York City, I mean this is a

         11  nationwide trend. And it's something that has

         12  happened as a result of many, many factors. One,

         13  because of issues of dietary nutrition, calories in

         14  and not enough calories out. Not enough calories

         15  expended. Not enough time for physical activity,

         16  whether it be recess or physical education. Too much

         17  time outside of school on video games, TV, computer,

         18  all of that.

         19                 So, it's sort of a whole cultural

         20  shift that has happened, and so we're looking for

         21  ways to attack that during the school day, and offer

         22  ways for parents to take these suggestions outside

         23  of the school.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Right, I

         25  understand that. All I'm saying is that I'm an old
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          2  timer. I would like to know, you know, the old time

          3  fiscal activities, where I believe kids had more

          4  time to run around in a school yard to play. There

          5  is no way in the world that my mother had this

          6  fitness program.

          7                 I want to make it clear, I'm not

          8  attacking the fact that you're trying to have a

          9  fitness program. All I'm saying to you is that, if

         10  we're trying to get children interested, I, myself,

         11  I registered into a gym, or whatever you want to

         12  call them, for a month. I couldn't take it anymore.

         13                 So, as you can see I stopped. And

         14  running around or walking in the street is something

         15  that children, getting them to do sit-ups or other

         16  stuff is another story, because if it becomes

         17  somewhat of a work, letting children, instead of

         18  having a physical, you know, a fitness program, I'm

         19  talking about in the nice weather, allowing them to

         20  run around in the school yard for another 20

         21  minutes, you know, I'm certainly not an expert, to

         22  me seems a lot more interesting.

         23                 MS. BENSON: Well, I absolutely agree

         24  with you about having more time for physical

         25  activity and making it fun.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Right.

          3                 MS. BENSON: And what we do with our

          4  Physical Best curriculum, and the Nike GO curriculum

          5  is not about drop and give me 20, we're doing

          6  push-ups we're doing this test, it's absolutely not

          7  that. And I apologize if that's the appearance of

          8  this.

          9                 It is about disguising fitness. It is

         10  about disguising fitness into activity, and also

         11  building content into why kids do what they do.

         12                 For example, recess is great.

         13  Definitely want to see more of it. But why am I

         14  running around? Why is this good for me? Why is it

         15  important for me to stretch after I run around?

         16  These are --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I want to

         18  interrupt you, please. I don't want you to be

         19  defensive about this, and I'm not upset at all. I'm

         20  just saying to you, you just proved the point. This

         21  is not a Talmudic subject. A kind of deep-thinking

         22  thing. Kids love to run around and play. You do not

         23  have to explain it to them. I can prove it to you by

         24  bringing a 34 year old into this room and tell them

         25  to do whatever they want, and you will know what
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          2  they do. I just want to, the point I'm making is

          3  that you talked about balance, there has to be a

          4  balance between these report cards. I'll tell you

          5  the truth, I open the report card and, again, maybe

          6  it's because I'm overweight, I felt pressured

          7  immediately. I'm telling you that. Current 2005

          8  test, you know. And I'm not saying, again I'm not

          9  saying it's not a good thing. All I'm saying to you

         10  is let's focus on the basics. The basics are the

         11  kids should have more time outside to run around and

         12  play, and I think this is great but we should give

         13  them the basics.

         14                 And finally, one last thing.

         15  Department of Education I believe has the

         16  responsibility to furnish food for parochial schools

         17  as well, is that true or not?

         18                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Only on requests where

         19  they want to.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: In other

         21  words, they get the food on their own.

         22                 MR. BERKOWITZ: They could have their

         23  own program or they could sign up with us.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Do you have

         25  any responsibility about whether they're serving
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          2  children, healthy things or not? Under whose

          3  jurisdiction is that? The State?

          4                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Probably under the

          5  State. It's not under DOE.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Yes. I would

          7  like to know, because I have a feeling that there

          8  are some obese children in parochial schools, as

          9  well. And I know someone, some government agency is

         10  providing either the money or the food, that's one

         11  of the mandates for parochial schools to serve the

         12  children. And since we care about all kids in the

         13  City, I think it would make sense that some of the

         14  same things that you're implementing in the

         15  Department of Education should be implemented for

         16  all the children as well, especially if it's not a

         17  big deal.

         18                 So, I don't know who to direct the

         19  question, Chairman Jackson. In other words, the

         20  parochial schools, if there are issues, and good

         21  ones about the health, and the City or the State is

         22  paying for it, I don't know who, somebody is paying

         23  for it, then they shouldn't be allowed, the

         24  parochial school shouldn't be allowed to buy the

         25  junk or the stuff that Council Member Vallone talked
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          2  about for their kids as well.

          3                 Thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You're welcome.

          5  Council Member Vallone, Jr. And then Melinda Katz.

          6  Quickly.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you. If

          8  you think Simcha felt awkward testifying in a

          9  physical fitness hearing, you should see him at a

         10  mental fitness hearing.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: That wasn't

         12  funny.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: You laughed.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I ask the

         15  Chair to strike that from the record.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: It's

         17  withdrawn.

         18                 But let me agree with you completely

         19  when it comes to play, though. Not so much at recess

         20  but after school. I'm actually going to formally

         21  request of our Chair a hearing on the amount of

         22  homework that our children get.

         23                 My kids do homework from the second

         24  they come home to the second they go to sleep. It

         25  never used to be like that. What's happening now is
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          2  the Department of Education is trying to increase

          3  its grades on the backs of the parents and their

          4  kids at home, and I think it's outrageous, and I

          5  think we actually have to have a hearing about the

          6  amount of homework that our children are getting

          7  now, because they cannot play anymore. I couldn't

          8  take them to a movie this weekend because they have

          9  too much homework. Outrageous. Another topic. Sorry.

         10  For another day.

         11                 I also appreciate my colleague's

         12  concerns, especially from DeBlasio, about anything

         13  nutrition oriented and their drive.

         14                 The Council Member made some good

         15  points, but as I said, so do you when it comes to

         16  flavored milk.

         17                 Frankly, the flavoring of milk isn't

         18  my biggest concern. What is, and I think we can all

         19  agree here, the fact what is is that the

         20  alternatives to the milk are healthy, and I think we

         21  all can agree on that, and we all have the same goal

         22  here.

         23                 And my one quick question I had and I

         24  thank the Chair for his indulgence is, what

         25  contingencies are in place for children who may be
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          2  allergic to milk?

          3                 MR. BERKOWITZ: We do have available,

          4  and, again, anything with an allergy a parent should

          5  talk to the nurse in the school who can be very

          6  helpful. In the case of that we do have available an

          7  ultra-pasteurized milk that we use, for instance, on

          8  trips, because it doesn't have to be refrigerated.

          9  That particular product is lactose free.

         10                 So, if a parent talks to the nurse

         11  and our school manager, we can arrange for the child

         12  to get that particular product.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Nothing

         14  resembling soy milk or anything like that?

         15                 MR. BERKOWITZ: No. Currently the

         16  regulations for the USDA that monitors and regulates

         17  our school lunch program does not allow soy milk.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

         19  Mr. Chair.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         21  Council Member Katz.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I couldn't let

         23  the hearing go without saying that I loved the

         24  Presidential Fitness Test. I did. And it was

         25  interesting because, you know, I always got my
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          2  little patch. So, I was good at the chin-ups. And I

          3  remember it to this day. But I will tell you,

          4  though, what I do remember, which might be

          5  interesting or not to some, which is that all year I

          6  thought about the next time we were doing it again,

          7  and in gym I really did think about, well, maybe if

          8  I do one or more chin-ups and push-ups, something

          9  like that, you know, the next time I'll really show

         10  them type thing. And I actually saw nothing wrong

         11  with that, except that you don't really want to be

         12  in competition with your colleagues, but I will

         13  trust the fact there are ways that we are judging

         14  the physical condition of the children that are in

         15  school, because if there is a muscle relaxation or

         16  something like that, that is indications of other

         17  issues.

         18                 MS. BENSON: To comment on that, the

         19  FitnessGram is actually quite similar in the

         20  assessments of the Presidential Fitness Test, it's

         21  just the way in which the reports are, the way in

         22  which the information is shared that it is private

         23  communication between teacher and student, and while

         24  I applaud you for being that really athletic

         25  individual, you know, I have to speak from the

                                                            112

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  complete opposite experience, probably representing,

          3  you know, sort of the 85 percent of the kids that

          4  are not excited about movement and are not natural

          5  kids that would just go ahead and run around. But

          6  other students, it was absolutely the bane of their

          7  existence, to be put on display to be mocked by

          8  their peers, and sometimes even their teachers

          9  because they could not keep up, they could not

         10  accomplish it. So, how do we do an assessment that

         11  supports the athletically talented, and those

         12  students are motivated by activity, but then how do

         13  we encourage activity for the students that need it

         14  most? You know, those obese students that are never

         15  going to complete that one-mile run, right? So, how

         16  do we engage them so that they don't look at

         17  physical activity as punishment or social

         18  deprivating situations, but where they can set goals

         19  and where they can actually take steps towards

         20  accomplishing their own personal goals.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I appreciate it.

         22  It was more of a joke, but in reality, I really did

         23  want to get from you that we were assessing the

         24  physical. One of the things that that test did is,

         25  if you have a physical problem, you can't run a mile
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          2  or half a mile or something. Maybe we need to look

          3  at other things that might be wrong, that's really

          4  what I wanted to say. Thank you.

          5                 MS. BENSON: It is actually almost the

          6  same assessments. Thanks.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you,

          8  Council Member Katz.

          9                 Let me just ask a few closing

         10  questions. You mentioned that you were working

         11  aggressively to reduce trans fat in school food and

         12  that you are working with DOH on this particular

         13  matter. Can you clarify this for us: Does the new

         14  regulation regarding trans fats apply to public

         15  schools?

         16                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Yes, it does.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         18                 And when, if at all, are you going to

         19  be in full compliance?

         20                 MR. BERKOWITZ: As I understand

         21  regulations, there's about 18 months, and we plan to

         22  do that much in advance of that. Like I said, we've

         23  already been working, even before the regulations

         24  have come out, and reduced a number of foods and

         25  have zero trans fat. So, we're aggressively working
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          2  on it and will be well in advance of the 18 months.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Would it be safe

          4  to say, if you're saying well in advance, since

          5  there's an 18-month time frame, by this time next

          6  year?

          7                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. So, we'll

          9  come back and ask you where you're at, about this,

         10  next year.

         11                 Ms. Benson, you talked about some

         12  stuff, maybe the goals as far as physical education.

         13  I know there is State guidelines. Where are you, the

         14  Department of Education, in achieving those goals?

         15  Are you 50 percent there, 75 percent, 80 percent,

         16  100 percent? Or if you don't use a number grade, and

         17  you use a letter grade, are you an A, a B, a C, a D?

         18  Or if you don't need that, then give me some

         19  descriptions on where you are, and how long, if

         20  you're not 100 percent there, how long is it going

         21  to take for you to get in 100 percent compliance?

         22  Because if my understanding, and based on reports,

         23  that DOE is not in compliance. And quite frankly,

         24  this Administration, and I understand about the

         25  seventies, but seventies is lifetimes ago. That was
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          2  over 30 years ago. This Administration has now been

          3  in office five years. So, where are you in

          4  compliance with the State regulations as far as

          5  physical education?

          6                 MS. BENSON: Sure. In terms of, I

          7  would just start with the letter grades scenario, of

          8  the scenarios you proposed. At the high school level

          9  we're at, I would say we're at a B plus. The

         10  compliance at the high school level had been in

         11  place for quite some time, particularly because it's

         12  not only a State Education requirement, it is also

         13  credit bearing, and it is written into the

         14  Chancellor's regulations.

         15                 The same thing for middle schools,

         16  we're probably about a B. When it comes to

         17  elementary schools, the seventies was a long time

         18  ago, but the effects of the lack of support and the

         19  consideration for physical education have absolutely

         20  trickled into the nineties and into the Year 2000.

         21  And for quite a long time, the questions haven't

         22  been asked: Who is your phys.ed teacher? What type

         23  of physical activity is going on? Is there recess?

         24  Is there physical education?

         25                 So, on average, we're aggressively
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          2  collecting this data and we will be happy to share

          3  this with the Council when we have the final

          4  numbers. But on average, elementary school students

          5  are receiving physical education a little more than

          6  once per week, about 1.2 times per week, and that's

          7  not where we need to be.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So give me a

          9  rating.

         10                 MS. BENSON: A rating?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: If high school

         12  is a B plus.

         13                 MS. BENSON: Probably a D at

         14  elementary school level Citywide.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What about

         16  intermediate schools? Or the intermediate schools

         17  are encompassed in elementary schools?

         18                 MS. BENSON: Intermediate schools fall

         19  within the secondary school guideline.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Secondary

         21  schools, you mean high school guidelines?

         22                 MS. BENSON: Secondary school

         23  guideline is middle schools and high schools

         24  together. So, I would put that in with a B plus as

         25  well.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: In intermediate

          3  schools?

          4                 MS. BENSON: In intermediate schools.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Do you have a

          6  breakdown specifically? Do you have a breakdown

          7  specifically of elementary schools and where you

          8  are? Do you have a breakdown specifically as far as

          9  intermediate schools? Do you have a breakdown

         10  specifically as far as high schools? And really what

         11  I want to know is, if you're saying you're in B plus

         12  compliance, then what schools are not in compliance

         13  and why are they not in compliance; do you have that

         14  breakdown?

         15                 MS. BENSON: This breakdown is

         16  something that we are actually accumulating right

         17  now.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Accumulating?

         19                 MS. BENSON: Accumulating because

         20  there has not been a system in place actually to

         21  press a button and really get this data.

         22                 One of the major issues at the

         23  elementary school level has been there hasn't been a

         24  New York City license for physical education. So,

         25  we've had many classroom teachers teaching physical
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          2  education and it hasn't necessarily been part of the

          3  school structure and we are working literally

          4  school-by-school to gather this information to see

          5  what this big picture is like.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Personally,

          7  that's not acceptable to me. Because quite frankly,

          8  even though you may have -- how many schools do you

          9  have in the system?

         10                 MS. BENSON: Nearly 1,500.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Nearly 1,500.

         12  You have ten regents, you have 32 districts, you

         13  have regional people. If I was a LIS, a Local

         14  Instructional Supervisor is responsible for, what,

         15  ten to 15 schools, give or take? If I'm a LIS, I

         16  want to know from every one of the principals that I

         17  supervise, where are we in meeting compliance?

         18  That's not rocket science. I mean, by saying you're

         19  working on it, it's not acceptable to me as the

         20  Chair of the Education Committee, considering the

         21  fact that there are State mandates of physical

         22  education, and DOE is constantly saying we're

         23  working on it. And my question is, when are you

         24  going to have it ready? When are you going to tell

         25  us which schools are in compliance and which schools
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          2  are not in compliance, school-by-school.

          3                 MS. BENSON: Yes, actually when I say

          4  we're working on it, we're aggressively working on

          5  it right now and before the end of this calendar

          6  year, we will have all of the elementary data and

          7  probably by the end of January, we will have the

          8  complete picture for the middle and high school

          9  data.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: By the end of

         11  when?

         12                 MS. BENSON: January '07.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. Well, I'm

         14  going to come back and ask you in January '07. And I

         15  would like to have, and I'm sure that you would like

         16  to have, you're the Director, the buck stops with

         17  you, you're the Director of Fitness and Physical

         18  Education, if I was you I would say I want a report

         19  school-by-school whether or not everyone is in

         20  compliance. Then you can determine, you agree with

         21  this, you can determine where your resources have to

         22  go, what staff has to be put to a particular region

         23  or a particular district, a particular school, to

         24  find out why they're not in compliance. And then to

         25  direct them to be in compliance.
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          2                 MS. BENSON: And that's absolutely --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You know there

          4  is a direct link to physical education and academic

          5  achievement. You said it in your opening statement.

          6  I said it. And everyone agrees with that.

          7                 So, aggressively working on it, those

          8  sounds like really good words, but quite frankly,

          9  DOE should have had it by now. And I'm demanding

         10  that you get it. Because you have not been in

         11  compliance with State regulations almost since day

         12  one and it's not acceptable.

         13                 MS. BENSON: We're extremely happy to

         14  share that information with you as soon as we have

         15  it.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And I would like

         17  to, if at all, in getting these statistics, to give

         18  us a breakdown by region, by district, or even if

         19  you have to break down by LIS, okay?

         20                 MS. BENSON: Right.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: By Local

         22  Instructor Supervisor. Because then from a

         23  transparent point of view, we can see from big to

         24  medium to small to the individual schools.

         25                 And everybody wants to see that.

                                                            121

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  Parents, everyone.

          3                 Could you report that on the school

          4  report card, whether or not a school is in

          5  compliance to the State mandate for physical

          6  education? Is that reported on the report card?

          7                 MS. BENSON: It is not included within

          8  the school report card.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Can you do that?

         10  Because I think the parents will come asking the

         11  questions, why aren't you in compliance? And they

         12  will be asking that of the principals of the

         13  particular school.

         14                 So, I'm asking you to put that down,

         15  whether or not you're in compliance with the

         16  physical education mandates of the State of New

         17  York.

         18                 MS. BENSON: Part of the assessment

         19  that we will be able to share with you is not just

         20  by school, but we'll also be breaking this down by

         21  grade level for each school as well.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I appreciate

         23  that very much.

         24                 Council Member Felder touched on this

         25  in his testimony, in his question, and I just wanted
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          2  to go over it.

          3                 What is DOE's policy, if at all, on

          4  children during recess, if there is recess, of

          5  actually running in the school yard?

          6                 MS. BENSON: There is, is there a

          7  policy, are you saying, in terms of restricting

          8  running, or promoting running?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I'm asking.

         10                 MS. BENSON: Because there isn't a

         11  formal policy about a restriction of activity.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, in many

         13  schools the policy is the children cannot run. So,

         14  I'm asking you, do you allow the principals to make

         15  local policies that children cannot run in school

         16  yards? In essence they have to walk in order to

         17  basically run?

         18                 MS. BENSON: I think it's about

         19  educating the principals and shifting the culture in

         20  terms of the importance of recesses, and while, you

         21  know, folks may be concerned about accidents, if

         22  there is managed physical activity, it can

         23  absolutely be done with students running and moving

         24  around. We want to see vigorous physical activity.

         25  And I think this is a matter of shifting the culture

                                                            123

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  and providing the support for principals to

          3  understand this. Every time we've had the

          4  opportunity to speak to a school specifically on

          5  this, we've been able to come to that understanding.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Really?

          7                 MS. BENSON: Absolutely.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How many schools

          9  have you spoken to over the past six months on this

         10  particular matter?

         11                 MS. BENSON: Personally I haven't

         12  spoken to probably more than ten in the past six

         13  months. But over the last three years, with the

         14  support of, you know, the regional staff, there may

         15  have been, and I'm just thinking off the top of my

         16  head, probably 50 or 60 schools where there was

         17  specific conversations about recess at the

         18  elementary level.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And you think

         20  the running really relates to mainly the elementary

         21  school, as far as recess?

         22                 MS. BENSON: I think it's a safety

         23  concern, but I think it's a matter of how do you

         24  introduce activity, and how do you support the staff

         25  that's supervising the recess to make sure that kids
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          2  can actually run around?

          3                 One of the things that we did, and

          4  more than 100 elementary schools did this over the

          5  last couple of years, was that we painted something

          6  called a peaceful playground on the school top.

          7  Which is basically an organized series of

          8  activities, whether it's shapes or numbers or

          9  colors, so that activity can be organized. Because

         10  at the elementary level, students get out there,

         11  they all tend to go to the same spot. But the

         12  studies have shown when you have clear markings on

         13  the playground, that kids will tend to organize

         14  themselves throughout that, and if we provide staff

         15  for the school areas or for the professional

         16  development, rather, for the school aids or the

         17  teachers that are supervising this recess activity,

         18  we can actually have more quality activity and

         19  reduce the potential of any accidents or incidents.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, you're

         21  basically telling me there is no Citywide policy

         22  banning children running in the school yard during

         23  recess?

         24                 MS. BENSON: Right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But there may be
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          2  individual schools that have that policy; is that

          3  correct?

          4                 MS. BENSON: There may be. But I'm not

          5  aware of specific schools that have that policy.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Do you think

          7  it's appropriate to assess whether or not, since we

          8  have heard parents complain about that, we've seen

          9  examples of that in the media over the past year, do

         10  you think it would be appropriate to assess, you

         11  know, how that policy is, as far as children cannot

         12  run during the school yard (sic)? I'm asking a

         13  question, do you think that's appropriate to assess?

         14                 MS. BENSON: I think it's absolutely

         15  appropriate within our realm of discussions with

         16  schools, and if there are schools that you

         17  specifically know of right now, or any of your

         18  constituents know of that are implementing such a

         19  policy, we would be more than happy to have that

         20  conversation.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How many

         22  elementary schools are there in the City?

         23                 MS. BENSON: Roughly 700.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Concerning

         25  school-based activities, the Committee has heard on
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          2  numerous occasions instances of students,

          3  particularly high school students, whose lunch

          4  periods are scheduled at 9:30, the worst case

          5  scenario, 9:30 in the morning, and going to even

          6  2:30 in the afternoon, to the point where it's their

          7  last period, and so it's not really lunch, they wind

          8  up leaving the school and going out and eat lunch.

          9                 And in large elementary schools some

         10  children have lunch as early as 10:00, 10:30 in the

         11  morning. And has the Local Wellness Policy put

         12  forward recommending policies? Or how do you address

         13  the fact that, you know, from the federal

         14  government, lunch should be near the lunch period,

         15  not lunch near breakfast. How are you addressing

         16  that, if at all?

         17                 MR. BERKOWITZ: That's certainly a

         18  good question that you raise.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That question

         20  has been raised many times before.

         21                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Yes, sir.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, how are you

         23  addressing it?

         24                 MR. BERKOWITZ: And we try to work

         25  with individual principals. Many times when the
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          2  numbers are very large in a school, just

          3  logistically they can only get a number of children

          4  in and out of the particular lunch period. So, we

          5  try to be flexible in terms of the numbers of

          6  periods, but it's really up to the principal in

          7  terms of setting up the schedule.

          8                 So, there are a lot of kids in school

          9  and there are a lot of staggered sessions with kids

         10  coming at different times.

         11                 So, certainly an issue, I agree.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How do you

         13  address it?

         14                 I know it's an issue. Everybody

         15  realizes it's an issue. As a DOE official, I'm

         16  asking you, how are you addressing it?

         17                 MR. BERKOWITZ: I don't have an answer

         18  at this time. It's something that I need to think

         19  about.

         20                 Very good question that needs

         21  follow-up. Need to really think about how we deal

         22  with that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, then Ms.

         24  Benson, as the Director of Physical Fitness and I

         25  think Nutrition? I'm looking for your title,
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          2  Physical Education, do you have any ideas how do we

          3  address that?

          4                 MS. BENSON: Well, I think this is

          5  absolutely conversations with school-based staff,

          6  scheduling can be challenging in many schools, and I

          7  think it's something that needs to be discussed at

          8  the school-based level with scheduling.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What is the

         10  average time period for lunch? Is there a Citywide

         11  policy on what the minimum period of time for lunch

         12  periods? Or is there a standard set time frame? Or

         13  is there a minimum and maximum time period for

         14  lunch? And I ask either one of you that question?

         15                 MR. BERKOWITZ: I think they run about

         16  30, 35 minutes. I don't believe there is a Citywide

         17  standard.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Is there a

         19  minimum standard?

         20                 MR. BERKOWITZ: I don't think so. I'll

         21  have to check on that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, you're

         23  saying the average time is about 30 to 35 minutes

         24  for lunch?

         25                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: The law also

          3  requires a designation of at least one individual

          4  within the administration or at each school as

          5  appropriate, who is given a responsibility of

          6  ensuring that each school is meeting the

          7  requirements of the Local Wellness Policy.

          8                 Can you just tell me who is

          9  responsible at the central level, and are there

         10  individuals at the regional level, at the local

         11  level or at each school that is responsible for

         12  meeting the requirements of the Local Wellness

         13  Policy?

         14                 MS. BENSON: Sure. And as the

         15  requirements for the Local Wellness Policy are all

         16  of the requirements of our initiatives for physical

         17  education and physical activity, that would be the

         18  Central Office of Fitness and Physical Education.

         19                 In addition to the regional directors

         20  and coordinators that work specifically with each of

         21  the schools.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, who

         23  specifically is responsible? Because it doesn't say

         24  an office is responsible, the Office of Physical

         25  Fitness and Wellbeing. Who is responsible? And
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          2  within the structure of DOE, I understand that the

          3  Chancellor is totally responsible for DOE, but who

          4  is responsible for implementing this policy? Where

          5  does the buck stop? Does the buck stop with you, or

          6  does it stop with somebody else as far as under the

          7  Chancellor and under the Deputy Chancellor?

          8                 MS. BENSON: I would say that because

          9  there are different elements of this policy that are

         10  housed in different divisions of the Department of

         11  Education, the Office of School Health has taken on

         12  the roll to coordinate all of this within the Office

         13  of School Health.

         14                 So, while I would be responsible for

         15  the physical education and physical activity

         16  component, David's office would be responsible for

         17  the SchoolFood oversight, and the Office of School

         18  Health has helped us come together to form this

         19  district level, sort of a wellness advisory council,

         20  so that we are sort of all talking to one another

         21  and are on the same page.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, in essence,

         23  regarding, I'm trying to understand that. So, as far

         24  as food and nutrition, as far as responsible, then

         25  based on what I'm hearing you saying, David
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          2  Berkowitz is responsible for that; is that correct?

          3                 MS. BENSON: That would be correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Then as far as

          5  physical education, since you're the Director of

          6  Fitness and Physical Education, that would be you?

          7  Is that correct?

          8                 MS. BENSON: That's correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And who do you

         10  report to?

         11                 MS. BENSON: I report to Brenda

         12  Steele, the Executive Director for Curriculum and

         13  Professional Development, who reports to Dr. Andreas

         14  Alonzo, the Chancellor for Teaching and Learning.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Mr. Berkowitz,

         16  who do you report to?

         17                 MR. BERKOWITZ: Marty Oestreicher,

         18  Chief Executive of Support Services.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And, so, you're

         20  telling me that the two of you are responsible for,

         21  one, for basically nutrition, and the other one

         22  basically for physical fitness, as far as the Local

         23  Wellness Policy. And at the local level, at the

         24  school level, who is responsible for implementing

         25  the Wellness Program?
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          2                 MS. BENSON: Well, for physical

          3  education the infrastructure that we have in place

          4  is that we have a Regional Director of Fitness and

          5  Education, another instructional specialist who

          6  works with them, and they work within their network

          7  of schools.

          8                 Part of this Wellness Policy, the

          9  process of it is to develop Local School Wellness

         10  Councils so that there are folks at the school that

         11  are accountable for this.

         12                 So, it will be suggested, for

         13  example, that the PE teacher is involved, that the

         14  School Food Manager is involved, that the health

         15  teacher is involved, that the nurse is involved, and

         16  we're really working very closely with some other

         17  partners in the field, like the Alliance for a

         18  Healthier Generation, to help us strategically

         19  figure out the best way to develop this local

         20  wellness committee at each school, as indicated in

         21  the policy.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And your

         23  regional people are responsible for setting that up

         24  and making sure that goes forward; is that correct?

         25                 MS. BENSON: Absolutely.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          3                 If you can provide us of a list of

          4  who the regional people are, I would appreciate it.

          5                 MS. BENSON: Sure.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: All right?

          7                 So, now, in the beginning I believe

          8  you talked about the Local Wellness Policy was

          9  passed by the, what is it, the Panel For Educational

         10  Policy, I believe? And when did they pass that?

         11                 MS. BENSON: I think it was September.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: In September.

         13                 And I believe in your testimony you

         14  said it went out to the principals about a week ago?

         15                 MS. BENSON: It was roughly a couple

         16  of weeks ago. I can get you the exact date that the

         17  communication went out and the principals --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: All right, this

         19  is already December. So, basically we're a half a

         20  year behind in implementing it; is that correct?

         21                 MS. BENSON: Well, the interesting

         22  thing about the Wellness Policy was a document that

         23  was able to sort of encompass all of the strategies

         24  that we have already been putting forth. It was able

         25  to take the major initiatives of physical education,
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          2  of SchoolFood, and combine it, synthesize it with

          3  the support from the Office of School Health to

          4  really put it all in one document.

          5                 So, there isn't anything new in this

          6  document that we were not already putting forth last

          7  school year, with the exception of working with

          8  schools to develop local wellness committees.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. So, okay,

         10  but overall as far as the actual policy itself, it

         11  only got into the principals' hand approximately two

         12  weeks ago.

         13                 MS. BENSON: That is correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And as far as

         15  whatever mandates that are required in there, I mean

         16  then they're going to be moving forward to ensure

         17  that the mandates are being met; is that correct?

         18                 MS. BENSON: That's correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, if I visit

         20  schools throughout the City of New York, and I ask

         21  them for the Local Wellness Policy, they should have

         22  it?

         23                 MS. BENSON: We would hope so.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. And part

         25  of that is communicating with the Parents
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          2  Associations about the Local Wellness Policy; is

          3  that correct?

          4                 MS. BENSON: Absolutely.

          5                 Parents associations, parent

          6  coordinator groups, being able to disseminate this

          7  information, sharing it out at the CECs, at

          8  principals, conferences and so forth.

          9                 I guess one clarification about the

         10  word "mandate." The policy has language that doesn't

         11  encompass the word "mandate." It has strong

         12  recommendations and policy concerns, but the word

         13  "mandate" is not included within the Wellness

         14  Policy.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You mean the

         16  policy is not mandated on the schools. So the

         17  schools don't have to follow the policy; is that

         18  what you're telling me?

         19                 MS. BENSON: It's not a legal mandate.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, what kind

         21  of mandate is it then? If I don't have to follow it,

         22  why are we having it then?

         23                 Because I'm looking here and under

         24  Section 204 of the Local Wellness Policy, and I'll

         25  read, quote, it says (a) "In general, not later than
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          2  the first day of the school year beginning after

          3  June 30th, 2006, and I'm reading word-for-word, each

          4  local education agency, which is the Department of

          5  Education, the City of New York is the local

          6  Education Agency, participating in a program

          7  authorized by the Richard B. Russell National School

          8  Lunch Act, or Child Nutrition Act of 1966, shall

          9  establish a Local School Wellness Policy for all

         10  schools under the Local Education Agency that at a

         11  minimum" blah blah blah blah. It's an act. It's the

         12  law that's been put in place. So, if you're telling

         13  me it's not mandated, and I'm a local principal,

         14  that means that I don't have to follow it.

         15                 MS. BENSON: I think the clarification

         16  is that it's mandated that the district has a Local

         17  Wellness Policy, but within that policy there

         18  doesn't have to be set forth specific mandates about

         19  each area.

         20                 I think the intention of this is more

         21  of building advocacy, building awareness, raising

         22  the obesity awareness at the forefront.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And I totally

         24  agree with you, that's a goal and objective. But

         25  quite frankly, you know, the federal government
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          2  requires you to do this; isn't that correct? If you

          3  fail to implement this policy, you could lose

          4  federal funding; is that correct?

          5                 MS. BENSON: I'm not specifically sure

          6  about the federal funding. But this is something

          7  that every school district needs to have in place.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Right. Because

          9  the federal government mandated it, isn't that

         10  correct?

         11                 MS. BENSON: Correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And, so, I

         13  assume if it's mandated by the federal government,

         14  are you instructing your school to make sure that

         15  they follow it, but they don't have to follow it, or

         16  you're mandating it?

         17                 MS. BENSON: Well, sort of as I

         18  alluded to before, everything that we're talking

         19  about within the Wellness Policy, all of the

         20  initiatives that we're working with schools, in

         21  terms of physical education to really strengthen

         22  their programs, and really get to the point where

         23  they need to be.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, and I

         25  appreciate that. And the reason why I am so, I am

                                                            138

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  pressing this particular point, is because DOE is

          3  not meeting State mandates for physical education

          4  for years.

          5                 And I'm saying that, you know, as the

          6  Chair of the Education Committee, knowing that

          7  education and the achievement level and physical

          8  fitness are linked, along with nutrition and all of

          9  the other things that are very, very important, that

         10  is, we need to mandate it.

         11                 And as far as, well, we don't have

         12  enough space, well it's a 1975 fiscal crisis,

         13  generations are being lost if we do not mandate it.

         14  Generations. And I am saying and people are saying

         15  no more generations should be lost, as a result of

         16  excuses, excuses that are being made not to mandate

         17  the requirements for physical education in our

         18  schools.

         19                 And let me just stop right there

         20  because I can go on and on, but, you know,

         21  generations are being lost, and we cannot afford to

         22  lose another generation of children.

         23                 So, I want to thank you both for

         24  coming in, Mr. Berkowitz and Ms. Benson. Benson,

         25  right?
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          2                 MS. BENSON: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you both

          4  for coming in. I appreciate it. I look forward to

          5  follow-up with you and staff on this particular

          6  matter. And please understand that it's extremely

          7  important that DOE send a message that it's a

          8  mandated policy that they must follow. And I think

          9  that that's extremely important to say. Thank you

         10  very much.

         11                 Our next panel is Fern Estrow, she's

         12  a nutrition consultant, and Kate MacKenzie from

         13  FoodChange. Please come forward. And I'm sorry,

         14  ladies and gents, we are going to have to use the

         15  clock, so I'm going to ask you not to read your

         16  testimony, submit your testimony and summarize and

         17  make the points that you need to make on this

         18  particular subject area.

         19                 You may notice that many of my

         20  colleagues left. Even though they have left, they

         21  are downstairs. We have a caucus meeting, which is

         22  very important. I cannot obviously be there because

         23  I am chairing this meeting, but they will know

         24  everything that's going on in this particular

         25  matter, will have an opportunity to discuss with
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          2  staff and listen to the tapes where appropriate on

          3  the subject matter.

          4                 Thank you very much.

          5                 Would you please state your name?

          6  Excuse me, ladies and gents. I'm going to ask that

          7  you take your conversations outside.

          8  Sergeants-Of-Arms, please. Thank you. Press a

          9  button.

         10                 MS. MACKENZIE: Good morning. My name

         11  is Kate MacKenzie. I'm a registered dietrician, and

         12  I am Director of Food and Nutrition at FoodChange.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Good afternoon.

         14                 MS. MACKENZIE: Good afternoon.

         15                 I think most of you know FoodChange.

         16  We're a 26-year-old non-profit organizations that

         17  improves lives through nutrition, education and

         18  financial empowerment.

         19                 I want to thank you for holding this

         20  hearing, not only to address the milk implications

         21  of the New York City School Wellness Policy, but

         22  also for allowing advocates and community members,

         23  like ourselves, to provide recommendations for

         24  implementation and assessment.

         25                 I'm going to provide submitted
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          2  testimony that speaks to questions that you raised

          3  around the Wellness Policy. I have very, very

          4  similar questions and concerns.

          5                 I'd like to let you know that for the

          6  past several years, FoodChange has been a close and

          7  supportive partner of SchoolFood. We've encouraged

          8  SchoolFood to address issues of food quality and

          9  nutrition content of school meals.

         10                 We strongly feel that addressing and

         11  marketing these issues will stimulate greater

         12  participation in the school meal program, which will

         13  ultimately increase the amount of federal dollars

         14  coming into New York City.

         15                 Of course, this can also lead to

         16  greater utilization of New York State food products,

         17  which will ultimately provide a large market to New

         18  York State agricultural economy.

         19                 As David mentioned, in 2004, the

         20  SchooFood Plus Initiative was founded, was provided

         21  additional support to SchoolFood to address issues

         22  and concerns around the school food and nutrition

         23  environment.

         24                 The overall goal of SchoolFood Plus

         25  is to improve the eating habits, health and academic
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          2  performance of school children within reach of the

          3  New York City School Meal Program, while

          4  strengthening the New York State agricultural

          5  economy. We provide educational programming in the

          6  classroom and the school cafeterias.

          7                 We work with the SchoolFood staff, as

          8  well as Jeff Jorges to conduct training for food

          9  service workers, to enable them to prepare fresh

         10  foods. We also develop marketing materials that

         11  encourage the consumption of healthful foods.

         12                 In 2007, we're introducing low-fat

         13  milk into these marketing materials.

         14                 Earlier this year we were pleased and

         15  enthused to learn that SchoolFood had engaged in

         16  efforts to eliminate whole milk from its food

         17  service options.

         18                 Quite simply, whole milk is by far

         19  the largest source of saturated fats in American

         20  diets. Furthermore, one percent and fat-free milk

         21  provide all the calcium, vitamins A and B found in

         22  whole and two percent milk, but with little or no

         23  saturated fat.

         24                 Given that an alternative to whole

         25  milk is readily available and it supplies equal
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          2  nutritional value without the health-threatening

          3  saturated fat, is it any question that we should be

          4  serving it through our children? If we have the

          5  opportunity to instill life-long health eating

          6  habits, should we not be taking advantage of that? I

          7  certainly think that we should.

          8                 Because milk is consumed frequently

          9  by children, use of low-fat milk in place of higher

         10  fat milks offers great potential for reductions

         11  without negatively affecting micro nutrient intake.

         12                 As part of the SchoolFood Plus

         13  Initiative, we're undergoing a comprehensive

         14  evaluation of these efforts. A great deal of time

         15  and resources are being sent to determine

         16  consumption patterns of elementary children.

         17                 When SchoolFood announced its plan to

         18  eliminate whole milk, we thought it would be

         19  valuable to conduct some evaluation of the policy,

         20  much like City Council is currently proposing to do

         21  via Resolution 267.

         22                 Our evaluation was unique in that it

         23  assessed not just individual choice of milk

         24  selection, which is something that you mentioned,

         25  but actual consumption of the product. I'm sure
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          2  everyone here can attest to choosing particular food

          3  items, but not actually consuming them.

          4                 This short addition to our evaluation

          5  plan produce limited finding but the process was

          6  very valuable, and I'd like to share that process.

          7                 The policy, the City policy currently

          8  of no whole milk was implemented before baseline

          9  data collection in all but one school was assessed.

         10                 That one school was quite anomalous.

         11  It had a policy and still does, of not having any

         12  chocolate milk, which is the dominant choice of

         13  children by far.

         14                 At post tests, where no schools were

         15  offered whole milk, we had weight data. That's

         16  actually what's left in the milk carton, weight data

         17  on 370 milk cartons. Six percent were nonfat, 33

         18  percent were one percent white, 61 percent were

         19  nonfat chocolate.

         20                 Further, --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Can you wrap up,

         22  please?

         23                 MS. MACKENZIE: Yes.

         24                 I'd like to provide you with some

         25  recommendations for -- I encourage you to take
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          2  advantage of the resolution. It's going to be very,

          3  very difficult to have baselined data information,

          4  given that the policy is already in place. I have

          5  many more recommendations in here. I really want to

          6  emphasize that clearly with small children, change

          7  takes time. Studies across the country, nutrition

          8  experts across the country indicate that in order to

          9  change children's behavior, multiple exposures to

         10  these foods are required.

         11                 I would love to work with you on

         12  evaluating the resolution. The small study that we

         13  did was with 34 classrooms in nine schools. Clearly,

         14  we don't have any general data from that. That small

         15  plate waste assessment essential was $15,000. The

         16  plate waste assessments that we are conducting in

         17  schools across the City are actual food items, is

         18  upwards of $100,000.

         19                 This will take a lot of money, but I

         20  think that great products could come from this.

         21                 I would encourage you to consider a

         22  lot of these factors when putting together an

         23  assessment. We would be more than happy to help out

         24  with that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.
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          2                 If you can supply us with that

          3  information, statistics, that would be great.

          4                 Fern Estrow. Is that how you

          5  pronounce your last name?

          6                 MS. ESTROW: Estrow.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Estrow. Fern

          8  Estrow.

          9                 MS. ESTROW: Thank you very much,

         10  Chairperson Jackson. And I really appreciate the

         11  time and opportunity to speak with you today. I'm

         12  sorry I stepped out of the room. I see I have three

         13  minutes. Okay.

         14                 I thank both Member DeBlasio, as well

         15  as yourself, and the New York City Committee on

         16  Education, for allowing me the opportunity to

         17  present testimony.

         18                 I am a registered dietician,

         19  currently consulting in New York City, with Head

         20  Start programs, and I work with low-end communities,

         21  addressing health and quality of life.

         22                 I do program management, food

         23  service, nutrition education, clinical management

         24  and resource support and policy.

         25                 Just to help you understand, I'm a
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          2  former member of the food service community, and I'm

          3  a graduate of Teachers College Columbia University

          4  with a nutrition education degree.

          5                 The reason I mention all of this is

          6  because I feel it is important to my testimony. I am

          7  also an active member, although I am not speaking on

          8  behalf of the organizations of the New York City

          9  Food Systems Network, the New York City Nutrition

         10  Education Network, the American Dietetic Association

         11  and the Society for Nutrition Education. To that

         12  point, I think it's very important for you to

         13  understand, there is no direct funding for nutrition

         14  education anywhere funded to the federal government

         15  outside of Head Start.

         16                 I would also like to go on record as

         17  opposed to the proposed Resolution No. 267 as

         18  written. It calls upon the Department of Education

         19  to assess the impact of its decision to decrease

         20  milk choices in New York City's public schools in

         21  order to evaluate the effect of the policy change on

         22  children's consumption and nutrition.

         23                 Obesity data of New York City

         24  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene for 2003,

         25  cited that the public school population of
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          2  kindergarten through fifth grade was a problem.

          3                 Some background on the current health

          4  statistics associated with the New York City Head

          5  Start population may be helpful here. A study

          6  conducted by the Health Department in New York City

          7  Administration for Children's Services in 2004

          8  collected and measured height and weight data for

          9  16,000 children here in New York City.

         10                 Of these children, one in four Head

         11  Start children is obese by the age of two. By age

         12  four almost one in three are obese. Twenty-seven

         13  percent of the Head Start children were obese, and

         14  an additional 15 percent were overweight.

         15                 This is a total of 42 percent of our

         16  children before they even enter kindergarten, so

         17  that the rate is consistent with the 43 percent that

         18  has been reported.

         19                 Now, there is recent data that has

         20  come out of CDC, it's actually our Health, it's

         21  called "Health United States 2006. It was published

         22  November 15th of this year, which acknowledges

         23  surplus body weight is associated with excess

         24  morbidity and mortality.

         25                 Among adults, overweight and obesity
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          2  creates the risk of heart disease, diabetes, some

          3  types of cancer. Overweight and obesity also

          4  increases severity of diseases associated with

          5  hypertension, arthritis and other skeletal problems.

          6                 Additionally, it has serious health

          7  consequences among younger children. Diabetes has

          8  more than doubled in the last decade, and it should

          9  be noted that Hispanic and African-Americans are at

         10  greater risk disproportionately for this problem, as

         11  well as weight conditions.

         12                 Diabetes now affects three-quarters

         13  of a million New Yorkers, and we haven't seen an

         14  increase in the incidence of diabetes among

         15  children.

         16                 In fact, today we call it Type II

         17  diabetes because we can no longer call it adult

         18  onset.

         19                 Milk consumption is associated with

         20  nutrient intake of calcium and other essential

         21  nutrients that have been identified. But it is not

         22  the only issue. Weight is clearly another factor

         23  here. What is not stated in the resolution is that

         24  the 2005 Dietary Guidelines recommend the intake of

         25  milk products be associated with bone health during
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          2  child adolescence, not milk alone, which was very

          3  well put by SchoolFood.

          4                 Please note that milk products

          5  include milk as well as yogurt and cheese. It is

          6  also important to recognize that while calcium is

          7  key to this discussion, it is primarily associated

          8  with bone health, and it is certainly among the

          9  things that we are concerned about. But I do not

         10  believe that we can operate in a vacuum and

         11  therefore must consider the overall consequences of

         12  the actions that encourage consumption of products,

         13  that based on their consumption, encourage

         14  consumption of fat, calories and the sweet palate of

         15  our youth. This is where I have concerns around

         16  milk, flavored milk.

         17                 While I agree that the primary source

         18  of calcium is from milk, it is not the only source,

         19  and nor is milk a panacea. As a matter in fact, in

         20  the young population, it can preclude consumption of

         21  foods that are needed.

         22                 Please note the government websites

         23  focus on the importance of low-fat milk and milk

         24  products, in addition to other sources of nutrients.

         25  I encourage the members to look at Milk Matters,
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          2  which is at the NIH website. I provided that

          3  information.

          4                 Transition does take time. I do not

          5  feel that we should go backward. I feel that at this

          6  point we should be going forward. I do not feel we

          7  should be offering a variety of flavored milks, I

          8  think the approach of school food has been a

          9  cautious one. It was not my recommendation, but I do

         10  feel in their reformulation they have made every

         11  effort to present a product that is low fat and

         12  palatable to the children, in the attempt to

         13  transition them.

         14                 And I just ask that going forward

         15  that you and your committee seek as much information

         16  as possible that is non-biased.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         18                 MS. ESTROW: And I appreciate your

         19  time.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, I heard you

         21  say that you oppose the resolution.

         22                 MS. ESTROW: That's right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And I believe,

         24  Ms. MacKenzie, did you state that you oppose it

         25  also?
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          2                 MS. MACKENZIE: We do not oppose it.

          3  We hope that you would consider our experiences in

          4  helping you to develop an appropriate evaluation.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. Were you

          6  here for Mr. DeBlasio with the discussion, and he

          7  was saying that his resolution calls for, Resolution

          8  calling upon the Department of Education to assess

          9  the impact of its decision to decrease milk choices

         10  in New York City Public Schools, in order to

         11  evaluate the effect of this policy change on

         12  children's milk consumption and nutrition. Do you

         13  think that that is an unreasonable request for them

         14  to assess the impact?

         15                 MS. ESTROW: I think the way it's

         16  written, it leaves it very open as to the action

         17  that would take place.

         18                 I don't think we should go backward.

         19  I know this information takes time.

         20                 I am totally in favor of evaluation

         21  assessment. I do not believe that you introduce

         22  flavored milks to children with the belief that

         23  you're going to be able to pull them and not have a

         24  reaction.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, let me
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          2  just ask and put forward Mr. DeBlasio's arguments. A

          3  ten percent reduction of drinking milk, period,

          4  rather than a gradual reduction. Because I

          5  understand that the flavor is milk that they're

          6  talking about is not one percent, or not skim, but

          7  would be two percent, and that's not whole milk that

          8  we're talking about; isn't that correct?

          9                 MS. ESTROW: The children coming into

         10  the program that I work with in Head Start, and

         11  those who are part of the Child and Adult Care Food

         12  Program, are encouraged to be on one percent milk.

         13  There is no reason for our SchoolFood system to go

         14  backwards.

         15                 We're already serving them one

         16  percent in our programs.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: When you say our

         18  programs, who is "our programs?"

         19                 MS. ESTROW: ACS.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: ACS.

         21                 MS. ESTROW: And federally funded

         22  programs.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: One percent, not

         24  two percent?

         25                 MS. ESTROW: That's correct.
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          2                 The Child and Adult Care Food Program

          3  is the sister program to the school lunch program,

          4  and in New York State it is administered by the

          5  State. They recommend one percent, and if you do not

          6  have one percent milk written on your menus when you

          7  submit them for your contract, it is sent back to

          8  you with a note.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. Well,

         10  thank you. I want to thank you both for coming in

         11  and giving testimony.

         12                 MS. ESTROW: Thank you for your time.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Let me just

         14  acknowledge my colleagues. Jim Vacca of the Bronx,

         15  and my colleague Oliver Koppell of the Bronx.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I apologize.

         17  I'm sure that Jimmy Vacca would say the same thing.

         18  We were present at a Speaker's Forum in the Bronx.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: In the Bronx. I

         20  understand that. I'm fully aware of that.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Mr. Chairman, I

         22  would like to say the same thing. And regarding the

         23  resolution, if I may?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Sure, go ahead.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: I think the
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          2  resolution is in good taste. I want to be

          3  supportive.

          4                 I'm concerned about milk myself.

          5                 It's in good taste. Very good, Bill.

          6  I didn't catch that.

          7                 But I do not support a return to

          8  whole milk at all. I do want to note that two

          9  percent milk is not a low-fat milk, it is a

         10  lower-fat milk. That's the proper label for two

         11  percent. Fat free to me, it may not be realistic to

         12  have children drink the fat free. It's not tasteful.

         13  But the one percent milk I think is something that

         14  we've done in many senior centers, we've converted

         15  from whole to one percent. I think the taste of one

         16  percent is a better taste that children will go

         17  along with. The issue with chocolate milk is

         18  something we have to assess. Does it mean that if we

         19  give chocolate milk, children will get more of the

         20  vitamins who may not want the one percent milk, but

         21  then we have an issue of sugar and high fructose

         22  corn syrup. So, that's where I'm a little concerned

         23  regarding chocolate milk.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: But I do think
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          2  going back to whole milk should be out of the

          3  question, and regarding fat free milk, we have to be

          4  realistic that it may not be something students

          5  would actually drink.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

          7                 Let's call our next witnesses. Dr.

          8  Keith-Thomas Ayoob, Advocates for School Milk

          9  Choices, and Jennifer Ignacio, the Greater New York

         10  Dietetic Association.

         11                 Good afternoon, Dr. Ayoob. You can

         12  begin, please. Just identify yourself for the record

         13  and your organization.

         14                 DR. AYOOB: Sure. Good afternoon. I'm

         15  Dr. Keith Ayoob, and I'm an Associate Clinical

         16  Professor of Pediatrics at Albert Einstein College

         17  of Medicine and a Pediatric Nutritionist for 22

         18  years at the Children's Evaluation and

         19  Rehabilitation Center at Einstein. I'm also Chair

         20  for the Advocates for School Milk Choices, a

         21  coalition of local and regional nutritionists,

         22  physicians, researchers and parents.

         23                 The dietary guidelines were mentioned

         24  by Council Member DeBlasio earlier. Five nutrients

         25  are cited by the 2005 Dietary Guidelines as

                                                            157

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  nutrients of concern because they're dangerously low

          3  in our diets. Milk supplies three of these

          4  nutrients, calcium and magnesium. So, when I hear

          5  about a ten percent reduction in milk intake in

          6  schools in kids, this is a concern for me. That kind

          7  of a decline is not acceptable. It means that of the

          8  1.1 million children in New York City, 110,000 fewer

          9  children are drinking milk at school. Now,

         10  nationally seven out of ten kids have calcium poor

         11  diets as it is, now 110,000 New York City kids are

         12  getting even less. And I'm not comfortable letting

         13  that go. Each child who misses a serving of milk

         14  gets 30 to 30 percent less calcium for that day, on

         15  top of already a calcium-deficient diet.

         16                 There's also an obesity issue here,

         17  and I'm concerned that the modest amount of sugar in

         18  chocolate milk is going to be a problem.

         19                 Now, if 110,000 fewer children are

         20  drinking milk, they're also drinking less fluid at

         21  lunch, and having eight ounces of less volume in

         22  their stomachs; what happens to them by the end of

         23  the day? They're hungry and they're thirsty. And

         24  what do they do? Too many of them go to the nearest

         25  store for chips and softdrinks. Large bottles of
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          2  softdrinks that contain more sugar in one bottle

          3  than the children would receive from a week's worth

          4  of flavored milk in school.

          5                 So, consider this. If those 110,000

          6  children are not drinking milk, they're getting

          7  8,400 fewer calories per day, depending on the type

          8  of milk.

          9                 Now, over the course of a year, are

         10  those children losing weight faster than any other

         11  children? They should be, correct? Because that's a

         12  loss of about four- to 500 calories a week, or about

         13  six to seven and a half pounds per year. Did that

         14  happen though? Probably not. And that's because

         15  these children likely do what most people do when

         16  they feel deprived, they overcompensate later on

         17  with far more calories.

         18                 The American Academy of Pediatrics in

         19  their 2003 policy statement on the prevention of

         20  overweight and obesity, said, "Dietary practices

         21  should be fostered that encourage moderation, rather

         22  than overconsumption, emphasizing healthful choices,

         23  rather than restricting eating patterns.

         24                 The Dietary Guidelines allow for some

         25  discretionary calories for the specific purpose of
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          2  driving the intake of nutrient-rich foods and they

          3  cite milk as a specific example, fat free and one

          4  percent milk as an example.

          5                 So, rather than limit flavored milk

          6  to lots of flavors once a week, which has been

          7  proposed, I strongly suggest offering just one

          8  flavor, chocolate which is the favorite, and it has

          9  less sugar than some flavors. There's also no

         10  evidence that consumption of flavored fat-free one

         11  percent milk even daily affects eight negatively.

         12  There is good evidence that flavored milk can help

         13  them get enough calcium when they wouldn't normally.

         14                 Thank you very much for considering

         15  my testimony, and I think I'm right on the button.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         17                 We've also been joined by Keri Gans,

         18  okay? But we'll hear from the next witness, who is

         19  Jennifer Ignacio, who is from the Greater New York

         20  Dietetic Association.

         21                 Could you pull the mike up so I can

         22  hear you? I'm a little hard of hearing.

         23                 MS. IGNACIO: Sure.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Pull it up a

         25  little closer, please.
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          2                 MS. IGNACIO: Good afternoon. My name

          3  is Jennifer Ignacio. I am a registered dietician,

          4  representing the Greater New York Dietetic

          5  Association. We are a professional organization

          6  representing registered dieticians, dietetic

          7  technicians and dietetic students from the New York

          8  City area, either who work or live in New York City.

          9                 In order to kind of follow your

         10  instruction, I'm not going to read my testimony, as

         11  you do have it in writing in front of you. I will

         12  instead take this time to say that as an

         13  organization of nutrition professionals, we support

         14  evaluating any changes that we made in New York City

         15  schools around food items or beverage items.

         16                 I, too, as many of the speakers

         17  today, applaud all the changes that have been made

         18  thus far to improve the nutrition quality of the

         19  food our children are eating and the beverages

         20  they're drinking; however, I do think that when we

         21  make changes that potentially have negative impact,

         22  it is important that we look at that and ask whether

         23  or not that's a good change to make.

         24                 I have attached with my testimony

         25  here just a little bit of a breakdown on the
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          2  different types of milk available, as well as other

          3  sources of dietary calcium. It has been cited, and

          4  I, as a dietician, talk all the time about other

          5  sources of calcium. Unfortunately, or fortunately,

          6  depending on your perspective, milk is almost always

          7  going to be the best and easiest way to get calcium

          8  into a child's diet.

          9                 I personally love broccoli, but I'm

         10  not going to sit down to four and a half cups of

         11  cooked broccoli to get the amount of calcium that a

         12  cup of milk would provide.

         13                 And with the 23 grams of fiber, I

         14  really don't think that we can ask a child to

         15  either.

         16                 In terms of milk consumption, I think

         17  it's pretty much across the board that nobody wants

         18  to bring back the high-fat milks. Nobody wants to

         19  take the saturated fat risk that comes with a whole

         20  milk or even a two percent milk possibly. But

         21  sticking with the low-fat milks, the one percent and

         22  the skim milk, we're reducing the potentially

         23  negative nutrients while keeping the nutrients that

         24  are beneficial in the milk that the milk provides.

         25                 And I do also agree with the Dietary
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          2  Guidelines Committee, which stated that it can be

          3  worth it to add a little bit of sugar to a product

          4  in order to make it more palatable and to get in

          5  those extra nutrients that are important from milk.

          6                 So, from our perspective, we support

          7  evaluating and also not overly restricting the types

          8  of flavored milk that might be offered.

          9                 I think a perfect analogy, which I

         10  think we always have to go back to real food,

         11  because it's how people outside of our profession

         12  think. You probably don't think in terms of

         13  milligrams like we do. So, just to give an analogy,

         14  quite often it's supported to season up your

         15  vegetables to get kids them to try them, a little

         16  garlic and oil, a little cheese on the broccoli to

         17  get a child to eat broccoli is considered well worth

         18  it. And I think another way of looking at the

         19  chocolate is that a little bit of chocolate to get

         20  the milk in is well worth it.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         23                 Keri Gans, can you identify whether

         24  you're representing yourself or you're here on

         25  behalf of an organization, please?
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          2                 MS. GANS: I am representing myself.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          4                 MS. GANS: I am a registered

          5  dietician, and the nutrition consultant in New York

          6  City. I am a member of the Greater New York Dietetic

          7  Association. I am a member of the New York State

          8  Dietetic Association, and I am a member of the

          9  American Dietetic Association. But I am testifying

         10  today on my own individual behalf. And I would like

         11  to thank you for allowing me the opportunity to

         12  testify.

         13                 Again, you have my entire statement.

         14  I am just going to highlight some parts that I think

         15  are really, really important for you to hear right

         16  now. And basically, according to New York City

         17  public schools, eliminating flavored milk from the

         18  cafeteria is going to solve the problem of obesity

         19  of New York City students, but the fact is, if we

         20  really look at the facts, over the past years the

         21  increasing prevalence of childhood obesity has

         22  coincided with declining milk consumption. The real

         23  issue is about the entire nutrient-rich packet that

         24  kids are missing out on if they don't drink milk in

         25  schools because they don't like plain white and
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          2  fat-free flavored milk. The fact is that when more

          3  milk choices and flavors are offered, more milk is

          4  consumed, and I think that's what we need to focus

          5  on.

          6                 All the rest of it, I mean I think

          7  the bottom line is we want our children consuming

          8  more milk, and if we need to flavor it a little for

          9  them to consume it, then that is what we need to do.

         10                 Another fact that troubled me is that

         11  the Department did not deem it necessary or

         12  appropriate to include opinions from a broad range

         13  of experts that serve this population.

         14                 This decision, which affects so many

         15  children, was made without conducting any research

         16  to examine the possible consequences of reducing

         17  milk options.

         18                 Like I said, the rest can be seen in

         19  my letter, and I thank you for the opportunity to

         20  provide my input.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, all three of

         22  you testified in favor basically of the resolution

         23  267-A.

         24                 MS. GANS: That's correct.

         25                 DR. AYOOB: That's correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And Council

          3  Member DeBlasio, when he was having the discussion

          4  with the DOE officials, had basically said wouldn't

          5  it have been better if there was a transitioned, or

          6  given the children's option, rather than have a ten

          7  percent decrease, and basically these children not

          8  getting the milk and calcium that they need.

          9                 And what I'm hearing from all of you

         10  is that flavored milk, rather than no flavored milk

         11  is better off in the children from a holistic point

         12  of view, as far as nutrition and the entire package,

         13  rather than saying let's cut it off and let's just

         14  give them just plain white one percent fat-free

         15  milk, or chocolate skim milk, which is, what I

         16  understand doesn't have the consistency, doesn't

         17  have the taste that the children like to have.

         18                 DR. AYOOB: That's correct. That's

         19  actually correct. And keep in mind that offering

         20  kids skim and one percent, plain and flavored milk

         21  does represent a transition that's already been

         22  made. The question is do we have to go further than

         23  that. And the government says, no, we don't. This is

         24  good. And it's not only good, but kids drink more

         25  milk when they have that kind of a choice. If they
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          2  want skim and one percent plain milk, terrific. I'm

          3  all in their corner. But if they want skim and one

          4  percent flavored milk, that's also good. It meets

          5  within guidelines, and I think it's teaching kids

          6  how to spend discretionary calories. Instead of

          7  going to the corner and saying, well, you know,

          8  discretionary calories, I can use them for whatever

          9  I want, they're intended to be used to drive the

         10  consumption of a nutrient-rich food, and this was,

         11  in the guidelines it's specifically stated, you

         12  know, skim and fat-free milk, as an example.

         13                 MS. IGNACIO: The only thing I would

         14  add is that --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Pull the mike up

         16  so I can hear you. I'm hard of hearing.

         17                 MS. IGNACIO: I think the only thing I

         18  would add to that, is I think across the board

         19  everybody who is interested in child nutrition and

         20  the welfare of our children agree that if --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Then why is

         22  there a difference then?

         23                 MS. IGNACIO: Oh, no. I think everyone

         24  agreed if --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But I'm talking
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          2  about, this panel, if you agree with the DOE

          3  officials, what's the difference? The difference is

          4  the approach to get to that end goal? Is that what

          5  the difference is?

          6                 MS. IGNACIO: What I'm saying is that

          7  I think we would all agree that if you removed all

          8  flavored milk, and there was no change in milk

          9  consumption and children continued to drink as much

         10  unflavored milk, I think that that would be an okay

         11  compromise. But the problem is that's not what

         12  happened, and that's not what's going to continue to

         13  happen in the real world, because we can't expect

         14  every child to have the same tastes, and not every

         15  child will like unflavored milk.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And let me just

         17  ask the question before Ms. Gans responds.

         18                 So, if there's a ten percent drop-off

         19  and these children are not drinking the milk, is it

         20  safe to say, or is it reasonable to assume that when

         21  they're leaving school that they're going to the

         22  local candy store and buying a soda or one of those

         23  purple or green little drinks?

         24                 MS. GANS: I would think that yes.

         25  Unfortunately, if they're not drinking a beverage in
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          2  school they're going to be thirsty. And when they

          3  leave school they're going to go out and buy a soda.

          4  So, is that what we would prefer? I would say not. I

          5  would say, let's give them something that is more

          6  palatable for them.

          7                 And the other thing that I want to

          8  bring up is everyone is saying, well, we gotta give

          9  them time to like this fat-free flavored milk, or

         10  fat-free milk. But how much time? Kids are growing.

         11  They need these nutrients now. So, how many years

         12  are we going to take to try to teach them to make

         13  these changes when it might be too late for their

         14  wellbeing?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That goes along

         16  with, I don't know if you were here when I ended my

         17  conversation with them, is, you know, I don't want

         18  to lose another generation of children.

         19                 I mean --

         20                 MS. GANS: Exactly. And that is a very

         21  big concern right now. I mean, we're interested in

         22  the health of our children. I think that is what

         23  Jennifer is saying. We all agree with the health of

         24  our children. It's how do we go about it.

         25                 DR. AYOOB: And if I can just amend
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          2  that also. When kids go out after school because

          3  they're hungry and thirsty, because they didn't get

          4  that volume at lunchtime that they would have had by

          5  the milk, the drinks they're going to choose are not

          6  only high in sugar, but they're also big, okay?

          7  Those are --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Twenty ounce

          9  Cokes?

         10                 DR. AYOOB: Twenty ounces, yes. Twenty

         11  ounces is going to have about 240, 250 calories, and

         12  that's all going to be sugar, and that's way more

         13  sugar than they're going to get by drinking flavored

         14  one percent milk every single day in school.

         15                 Now, if we can prevent that from

         16  happening just one day, we'll have done the job.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, I want to

         18  thank you all for coming in, and we appreciate your

         19  testimony. And obviously you are professionals in

         20  your own field, and we appreciate your testimony.

         21  Thank you very much.

         22                 DR. AYOOB: Thank you.

         23                 MS. GANS: Thank you.

         24                 MS. IGNACIO: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: The next panel
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          2  is Ben Nisbet, from Sports and Arts in Schools

          3  Foundation; Kelly Wind from New York Coalition for

          4  Healthy School Lunches, and Cliff Sperber, for the

          5  New York Road Runners Foundation. Please come

          6  forward.

          7                 Mr. Nisbet, just identify yourself

          8  for the record, and you may begin.

          9                 MR. NISBET: Yes. My name is Nisbet,

         10  and I am the Senior Program Director at Sports and

         11  Arts and Schools Foundation, and I'm filling in for

         12  Mr. Skip Harpman who was here earlier but had to run

         13  out to a lunch appointment. And I have a one-page

         14  handout here, but I'll go through it quickly and

         15  briefly.

         16                 I'm here to inform you about a

         17  partnership we have developed with the New York City

         18  Department of Education, to bring more sports and

         19  fitness programs into New York City schools.

         20                 The partners are the DOE Central

         21  Office of Fitness and Physical Education, headed by

         22  Miss Lori Benson, and many local sports

         23  organizations that work continually with our

         24  foundation, and a growing list of public and private

         25  funders and sports and arts and schools foundation
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          2  as the lead partner.

          3                 The most important public sector

          4  partner outside of the DOE has been you, the City

          5  Council. And this year, it's gradually started to

          6  grow in terms of the funding and this year our

          7  program will, our program supporting the CHAMPS

          8  Program is going to be a million dollars, of which

          9  800,000 is being put in by the New York City

         10  Council.

         11                 The partnership that I'm discussing

         12  here, is the after school CHAMPS Program, and it

         13  began as a small program in School Year 2004 and

         14  '05, and today this initiative is reaching

         15  approximately 23,000 children in 200 middle schools

         16  with activities on average of five- to eight-week

         17  programs per school. And this program started as an

         18  after school program, it's now transcended into

         19  morning programs, and through our training of

         20  phys.ed teachers it is sprinkling into the school

         21  day. So, it's a very, very rich program. As an

         22  agency, we believe that high-quality school-based

         23  sports and fitness activities have a substantial

         24  impact on each children's attitude toward school,

         25  overall health, outlook and academic performance.
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          2                 This year, New York City middle

          3  school children will have the opportunity to

          4  participate in more sports and fitness activities

          5  than ever. These activities include non-traditional

          6  programs, such as ball room dance, cycling, fencing,

          7  karate, Tai Chi, yoga and even an outstanding crew

          8  program run by one of our partners, Row New York.

          9                 These programs also run alongside

         10  traditional sports, such as basketball, baseball,

         11  non-contact flag football, softball, tennis from our

         12  sister organization, New York Junior Tennis League,

         13  an outstanding running program by New York

         14  Roadrunners Foundation, Volley Ball, and this

         15  thereby offers a menu of sports and activities

         16  throughout the school day, and after school and even

         17  on the weekends that spark the interests of all

         18  middle school students.

         19                 We provide through the CHAMPS program

         20  a variety of support, which I've listed in my letter

         21  here, so I won't go into too much detail.

         22                 We do want to note that these

         23  exciting sports and fitness programs would not be

         24  happening at such a scale without Ms. Benson's

         25  open-minded, aggressive approach to fitness and
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          2  physical education, and a central office that has

          3  the ability to coordinate and deliver these

          4  programs, centrally and also through the regional,

          5  the Regents.

          6                 We're especially grateful of the City

          7  Council's continued support of the Sports and Arts

          8  effort to make this vision a reality.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         11                 Next, Kelley Wind, the New York

         12  Coalition for Healthy School Lunches.

         13                 MS. WIND: Thank you.

         14                 My name is Kelley Wind, and I am a

         15  Program Director for New York Coalition for Healthy

         16  School Lunches. We are a statewide non-profit

         17  advocating for healthy school food.

         18                 On behalf of my organization, I'm

         19  here to testify in support of the New York City

         20  Office of School Food's decision to remove whole and

         21  two percent fat milk from the school meal menu.

         22                 Whole and two percent fat milk are

         23  leading sources of total unsaturated fat in

         24  children's diets, and despite all the promotion of

         25  lower fat dairy products, two out of three children
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          2  to drink milk with school lunch choose whole or two

          3  percent milk. Eliminating these higher fat milks in

          4  school is an important strategy for reducing

          5  children's saturated fat intake.

          6                 Heart disease may not show up until

          7  adulthood, but the beginning of heart disease is

          8  seen as children as young as two years old.

          9                 Fifty percent of children between the

         10  ages of two and 15 have fatty streaks in their

         11  arteries. Literally the beginning stages of heart

         12  disease.

         13                 The Dietary Guidelines for Americans

         14  recommends the school-age children choose a diet low

         15  in total fat, saturated fat and cholesterol.

         16                 The National School Meals Programs

         17  are required by law to be consistent with the

         18  dietary guidelines.

         19                 Saturated fat is a major contributor

         20  to heart disease, the number one killer of American

         21  men and women. One cup of whole milk has the same

         22  amount of artery-clogging saturated fat as one hot

         23  dog, five strips of bacon, a Snickers Bar or a

         24  fastfood hamburger.

         25                 Two percent milk is not low fat. One
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          2  cup has as much heart unhealthy fat as three strips

          3  of bacon, and contains about 35 to 40 percent of its

          4  calories from fat.

          5                 It's called two percent because it's

          6  two percent by weight, not by calories. Most people

          7  we speak to don't seem to be aware of this, and are

          8  surprised and feel misled when they find that two

          9  percent fat milk is really 35 percent fat.

         10                 Reducing saturated fat is one of the

         11  top recommendations for reducing not only

         12  cardiovascular disease but also the risk of other

         13  diseases, including cancer, diabetes, and obesity.

         14                 New York City's Office of School Food

         15  has the second largest institutional food budget in

         16  the entire country, right behind the US military,

         17  $125 million a year. They have taken a positive step

         18  by eliminating the higher fat milk and other

         19  positive efforts. How ever it affects the dairy

         20  industry, and it surely it does, given the size of

         21  the New York City school system, we must do what is

         22  right for the children of this City and reducing

         23  saturated fat is what is right and recommended by

         24  the USDA and every respected health authority.

         25                 With this tremendous economic
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          2  leverage, the Office of School Food has the power to

          3  influence the food system of the entire country. The

          4  Office of School Food has taken a tremendous step

          5  forward with the removal of refined flowers, the

          6  introduction of plant-based options, and especially

          7  the School Food Plus Program. To turn back now would

          8  be turning our backs on our children.

          9                 We hope they will quickly follow this

         10  trend by refusing to purchase any products with high

         11  fructose corn syrup, trans fats, artificial

         12  sweeteners, colors and other food additives that

         13  aren't really food.

         14                 As the school food service for the

         15  largest and greatest City in the nation, New York

         16  City's Office of School Food has both the

         17  responsibility and the opportunity to set the

         18  standard for the way in which our entire nation sees

         19  our children.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         22                 Next we're going to hear from Cliff

         23  Sperber from New York Road Runners Foundation.

         24                 MR. SPERBER: Thank you, Chairman

         25  Jackson. I had the honor of addressing this
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          2  distinguished Committee in September 2003. At that

          3  time, New York Road Runners Foundation provided

          4  running-based fitness programs to 400 children a

          5  week in 20 New York City public schools. Faster

          6  forward 40 months, and we are now providing our

          7  programs to 20,000 children a week in 100 New York

          8  City public schools.

          9                 Our services, which provide kids with

         10  the mindset and methodology to get in shape and

         11  remain in shape throughout their lives are

         12  particular vital, because we target our outreach to

         13  communities with the insidious youth obesity crisis

         14  is most vicious and structured PE opportunities

         15  least accessible.

         16                 There are many reasons for the

         17  remarkable growth of our service population,

         18  including highly successful fund-raising which

         19  enables us to provide our incentive and special

         20  events rich programming to the City's schools for

         21  free. Of critical importance, however, is the

         22  tremendous support we've received since September of

         23  2003 from the Office of the Department of

         24  Education's Citywide Director of Fitness and

         25  Physical Education and the Regional staff they
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          2  manage.

          3                 The work of these determined,

          4  talented educators has made notable headway in

          5  reversing what had become a generation long retreat

          6  from decades old, and legally mandated, tradition of

          7  all the City's schools providing physical education

          8  to all of their students.

          9                 While the struggle, and it is a

         10  struggle, to make meaningful PE a deliverable to

         11  every public school student still has far to go,

         12  thanks in large part to DOE's new-found emphasis on

         13  providing this life or death subject, the City is

         14  undergoing a virtual PE renaissance in many schools.

         15                 Based on the positive experience of

         16  New York Road Runners Foundation, which we know is

         17  shared by many other institutions and organizations,

         18  such as Sports And Arts In Schools Foundation,

         19  working to make PE available through the schools, we

         20  offer these two suggestions for improving children's

         21  health in New York City.

         22                 First, do not allow work conducted

         23  through the Office of the Citywide Director of

         24  Fitness and Physical Education and the Regional

         25  counterparts to be extinguished or diminished.
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          2                 They are doing the heavy lifting

          3  which has made such a significant difference to the

          4  school system's PE programs in such a relatively

          5  short time.

          6                 Their impassioned efforts empower

          7  principals to develop PE programs; coordinate myriad

          8  PE activities utilizing both DOE and non-DOE

          9  resources; and they lead and organize training for

         10  both PE and non-PE teachers.

         11                 In addition, they have established

         12  the CHAMPS program and FitnessGram, fresh corners

         13  for the City's new era of public school PE. All of

         14  these initiatives are notable in their own right and

         15  collectively have enabled many tens of thousands of

         16  City kids to receive PE instruction heretofore

         17  unavailable to them.

         18                 The number of staff and the funding

         19  for their work should be dramatically increased, as

         20  the long-term return in lower medical bills and

         21  higher quality of life would be enormous.

         22                 Secondly, the key to success in any

         23  school-based initiative is the principal. Their

         24  support, or lack thereof, is the decisive factor in

         25  whether PE flourishes in the school or is dormant.
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          2                 Principal accountability for the

          3  success of their school's PE program may well be the

          4  simplest, fastest and least expensive step the City

          5  can take to lift PE to the level it must be if our

          6  children are to receive the education they deserve;

          7  one that not only prepares them academically, but in

          8  the practical matter of living a long, healthy and

          9  physically enabled life.

         10                 And if I may say, your comments

         11  regarding getting a breakdown on which schools

         12  aren't meeting that legal mandate and not just the

         13  25,000 picture, but right down on the ground, I

         14  think will be a great step towards deriving that

         15  accountability from each school.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, I thank

         17  you.

         18                 You know, I hear a lot of responses

         19  to these hearings, we're working on it, you know,

         20  we're aggressively -- you know, that doesn't get it

         21  anymore. You know, I want them to evaluate

         22  themselves, give me a rating based on 100 or A or B,

         23  just like she did, so we and anybody else can assess

         24  that to determine that's nonsense, or that's true.

         25  You know what I mean? Whatever it is. But a
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          2  realistic rating and then give us the breakdown. I

          3  don't think it's rocket science when you have a

          4  structure that's broken down by you have ten

          5  regions, you have 32 districts, you have LIS's, the

          6  Local Instructional Supervisors, responsible for ten

          7  or 12 schools, mandate that they get that

          8  information by next week. And if a principal is told

          9  you have to submit what your program is, and whether

         10  you're complying, I don't see why that's so

         11  difficult.

         12                 MR. SPERBER: Well, hopefully that

         13  information will be made available to the Council.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, I'm going

         15  to be following up on that.

         16                 MR. SPERBER: And the public in the

         17  near future, because also, as you said, I think a

         18  lot of parents would like to really know the truth

         19  about what's going on with physical education in

         20  their school.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Right.

         22                 MR. SPERBER: But notwithstanding, if

         23  I may say, the difficulties in getting that opinion,

         24  in getting that information to this Council, I do

         25  think that their office has really done a tremendous
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          2  job, and the difference in the interest in the many

          3  schools that we go out to and the consciousness of

          4  physical education as an important school-based

          5  activity really has changed dramatically over the

          6  last three years, and I think the Office of Fitness

          7  and Physical Education, has really taken the lead in

          8  making that happen.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You know, I

         10  truly believe that. I do. Because obviously they're

         11  focusing in on it, but, you know, quite frankly, you

         12  know, to blame the current situation on the 1970

         13  Fiscal crisis, you know, I don't want to hear that

         14  anymore. I don't want to keep losing generations of

         15  children by not mandating, by us not meeting the

         16  requirements of the State mandates for physical

         17  education.

         18                 Let me just say, and I have to say

         19  this: You know, with the CFE lawsuit we sued for

         20  funding, Pataki signed into law in May at a

         21  warehouse in Brooklyn the financial funding formula

         22  for $11.2 billion for New York City public schools

         23  over the next couple years. And it was signed in a

         24  warehouse that is going to be Sunset Park High

         25  School, that the people in the community were
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          2  fighting for that school for 36 years. And they

          3  asked me at a forum five months earlier, how come a

          4  school has not been built? And you know what my

          5  response? You know how much the school chooses, $93

          6  million. So, let's round it off to 100 million,

          7  okay? Round it off to 100 million. And I said that

          8  with the City's budget of $53 billion, we spend on

          9  education $17 billion a year, that the only reason

         10  in my opinion that it hasn't been built, because it

         11  wasn't a priority for the people who had the

         12  authority to make it happen.

         13                 And, so, I'm saying, I don't want to

         14  keep hearing excuses. We must comply and that's it,

         15  period, in order to ensure the linkage of physical

         16  education and academic achievement.

         17                 Let me just finally say, that my

         18  brother, ran the first marathon ever in his life,

         19  he's 46 years old, he's totally blind, and he ran

         20  the marathon with the Achilles Club. Let me just

         21  tell you, I'm so proud of him, and I told him I have

         22  to get out run. So, thank you for the Road Runners

         23  Foundation for looking at having healthier people.

         24                 And just quickly, let me just ask

         25  Kelley, are you speaking in favor or against the
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          2  resolution? I assume you are opposing the

          3  resolution, or you have no opinion on the

          4  resolution? Because the resolution doesn't say go

          5  back to whole milk. It says to assess, assess the

          6  impact of the decision.

          7                 I think you would agree that if

          8  children were not drinking milk in school, whether

          9  it's flavored milk or whatever, that majority of

         10  those children are going out and buying softdrinks

         11  that are less healthier than the flavored milk. I

         12  just will ask your opinion on that, if you want to

         13  express it?

         14                 MS. WIND: Right, I think the

         15  Department of Education has done --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Would you pull

         17  your mike over a little closer?

         18                 MS. WIND: Yes. The Department of

         19  Education has done the right thing in eliminating

         20  whole and two percent milk.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. But what

         22  about the impact, if ten percent reduction, which I

         23  don't know if you were here when they were stated?

         24                 MS. WIND: Yes, I was here.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And if children
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          2  are not drinking anything, the majority of those

          3  children, if they have money in their pocket, and if

          4  they're not with their parents, they're going out

          5  and buying a soda or something like that, you would

          6  agree with that, or disagree with that?

          7                 MS. WIND: No, I would disagree with

          8  that.

          9                 I think that it's not the perfect

         10  equation that if they're not drinking milk, that

         11  they would be drinking high calorie --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What do you

         13  think they're going out and drinking, if they're

         14  drinking anything? Water?

         15                 MS. WIND: I can't speak of what

         16  they're drinking, but I don't think that if they're

         17  not drinking whole milk, that that means that

         18  they're going to be drinking Coca Cola.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: No, I'm not

         20  talking about whole milk. We're talking about with

         21  the resolution, it basically talked about flavored

         22  milk, low-fat flavored milk, and I think that you

         23  mentioned or someone mentioned in their testimony,

         24  that two percent --

         25                 MS. WIND: Is not low fat.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Low fat, is not

          3  low fat.

          4                 MS. WIND: Right.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Basically it's

          6  by weight she said and not by fat content; is that

          7  correct?

          8                 MS. WIND: Right. But it's still a

          9  high fat food product.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. Well, I

         11  want to thank you all for coming in and giving

         12  testimony. I appreciate it very much.

         13                 We have a last panel, Susan Levin,

         14  the Physicians Committee for Responsible Medicine,

         15  and Emily McCoy and Rose McCoy from PCRM, and Dr.

         16  Shoobe from PCRM, and Andreas Turanski, for PCRM; is

         17  that correct?

         18                 Is there anyone else that's looking

         19  to testify today that did not have the opportunity

         20  to testify?

         21                 Okay, good. So, this is the last

         22  panel, okay?

         23                 MS. LEVIN: Unfortunately, Dr. Shoobe

         24  and one of our other parents, Mr. Turanski, had to

         25  go.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. Just

          3  identify yourself, please.

          4                 MS. LEVIN: Okay.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And you may

          6  begin.

          7                 MS. LEVIN: My name is Susan Levin.

          8  I'm a licensed dietician and a registered dietician

          9  in the State of New York. I'm here on behalf of the

         10  Physicians Committee for Responsible Medicine and a

         11  concerned parent, such as Ms. McCoy and her

         12  daughter, Rose McCoy, who is a student in the New

         13  York City public school system.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, that's

         15  Emily and Rose.

         16                 MS. LEVIN: That's right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Is Rose the

         18  little one? Hi, Rose.

         19                 MS. LEVIN: PCRM is a non-profit,

         20  nutrition advocacy organization which over 4,000

         21  members in New York City. We committed to the

         22  prevention of disease through healthy diet. And we

         23  support the New York City Department of Education's

         24  decision to eliminate the availability of food, such

         25  as whole milk and flavored milk, that place New York
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          2  City's school children at risk for overweight,

          3  obesity and related health problems.

          4                 As you already know, and it's been

          5  mentioned, New York City has up to twice the number

          6  of overweight and obese children compared with the

          7  national average, which is not very good. And milk

          8  is the largest contributor to saturated fat in

          9  children's diet.

         10                 Further, the overwhelming majority of

         11  research suggests that dairy consumption does not

         12  promote bone health, and may, in fact, pose risks.

         13  Therefore, we applaud New York City for this recent

         14  policy change.

         15                 Dairy products significantly

         16  contribute to the fat intake of children, regular

         17  and even low fat cheese and other dairy products

         18  contain saturated fat and cholesterol, both of which

         19  are consumed in excess and are major contributors to

         20  the development of obesity, heart disease and Type

         21  II diabetes.

         22                 Although children require a certain

         23  amount of fat in their diets, they do not require

         24  any saturated fat or cholesterol.

         25                 Previous research has questioned
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          2  whether increase in calcium intake through diet

          3  supplements is beneficial to bone integrity. A 2005

          4  review in Pediatrics, based on 58 studies, found no

          5  relationship between dairy or calcium intake and

          6  measures of bone health above 500 milligrams a day.

          7  Similarly, a 2006 meta-analysis showed that calcium

          8  supplementation does not have a clinically relevant

          9  impact on bone health in children and adolescents,

         10  again, above 500 milligrams per day.

         11                 The United States has the highest

         12  rates of osteoporosis and hip fracture later in

         13  life, despite the fact that dairy intake in the

         14  United States is among the highest in the world.

         15                 Many efforts continue to falsely link

         16  increased consumption of dairy products to better

         17  bone health.

         18                 The evidence suggests that bone

         19  health is most influenced by physical activity,

         20  Vitamin D and other dietary factors. The Department

         21  of Education should ensure adequate time for

         22  physical education and active play time for better

         23  bone health and overall health.

         24                 There are significant complications

         25  to the promotion of dairy products. For example,
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          2  many US children are lactose intolerant, allergic to

          3  milk, or choose to avoid milk for other reasons,

          4  such as taste preferences, religious or ethical

          5  consideration, or health concerns.

          6                 According to American Academy of

          7  Family Physicians 2002 report on lactose intolerant,

          8  60 to 80 percent of African Americans, 50 to 80

          9  percent of American Hispanics, 80 to 100 percent of

         10  American Indians, 95 to 100 percent of Asian

         11  Americans and six to 22 percent of American whites

         12  are lactose intolerant.

         13                 The topic of lactose intolerant is

         14  particular importance to New York City, since it is

         15  one of the most diverse cities in the world.

         16                 Again, research shows calcium intake

         17  above 500 milligrams a day is not necessary for bone

         18  health. However, to meet current government

         19  guidelines, enriched soy milk contains protein,

         20  calcium, vitamins A and B at levels comparable to

         21  cow's milk, but without the disadvantageous

         22  saturated fat, cholesterol, lactose, and hormones

         23  found in dairy milk.

         24                 Other fortified food such as juices

         25  and cereals provide calcium without the negative
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          2  affects of animal fat and animal protein. In

          3  addition, broccoli and dark leafy greens, such as

          4  kale and collards provide calcium at twice the

          5  absorption rate of cow's milk, and also provides

          6  fiber, antioxidants and vitamins and minerals not

          7  found in milk.

          8                 It is in the best interest of young

          9  people to change our outdated assumptions about the

         10  role of calcium, milk, and other dairy products in

         11  the bone health of children and adolescents. For

         12  optimum bone health we recommend moderate calcium

         13  intake with exercise, sun exposure, a high intake of

         14  fruits and vegetables, minimal intake of salt and

         15  caffeine-rich foods, and avoidance of animal

         16  products.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         19                 Emily McCoy.

         20                 MS. McCOY: Just push the mike again,

         21  and pull it up a little closer, Emily.

         22                 MS. McCOY: Okay. Sorry about that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: It's okay.

         24                 MS. McCOY: I actually hadn't prepared

         25  anything to put together.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: It's all right.

          3  You can say what you feel then.

          4                 MS. McCOY: I'm a parent, and I'm a

          5  voter --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That's good.

          7                 MS. McCOY: And my daughter Rose, she

          8  doesn't consume any dairy milk, she doesn't need to

          9  be coerced into eating healthy foods by peppering

         10  foods that are otherwise healthy with unhealthy

         11  things like cheese, like cream or milk or putting

         12  chocolate into her soy milk. It troubles me to see

         13  the first gentleman that was on, I think it was

         14  Berkowitz, Mr. Berkowitz, who in response to the

         15  decrease and the amount of dairy which, or milk

         16  which was consumed by school children in New York

         17  City by ten percent, was somehow, would be made up

         18  by, you know, consuming yogurt, by consuming cheese.

         19  As you can see, my daughter is very healthy. She is

         20  sick a lot fewer times than other kids who are in

         21  her classes. Milk itself is not a necessary, not

         22  only is it not necessary, it actually works against

         23  you in terms of your health, in the saturated fat,

         24  hormones, antibiotics, other things which are in

         25  milk, which again, I'm surprised that none of the

                                                            193

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  other people who were here as professionals, this is

          3  what they do, mentioned that aspect in any of their

          4  statements. And the fact is, is that cancer and

          5  other diseases are on the rise, and where this all

          6  starts from is when we're children, is what we eat,

          7  and when we have people like, I'm sorry Mr.

          8  DeBlasio, who is not here now, he stayed for the

          9  people who were in agreement with him, and

         10  unfortunately is gone now, to tell milk as being

         11  somehow a super nutritious food, is just very

         12  misguided, misinformation which is told to us

         13  continually by the milk industry, by the dairy

         14  industry, and when I hear some of the people who

         15  have gotten up here who have clearly received

         16  information from organizations that have a vested

         17  interest in the promotion of dairy products, I'm

         18  bothered that they're not thinking independently.

         19  Clearly, children do not need dairy, and my daughter

         20  is a living example of that.

         21                 Again, I might not be the most

         22  eloquent person, but I hadn't prepared anything, I

         23  didn't think I would be speaking, but that was my

         24  observation from today. Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, clearly
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          2  you don't need to have prepared testimony to come

          3  and testify at the City Council. You could just say,

          4  you know, I see you were sitting in the audience,

          5  and you heard most of the testimony, and I think

          6  hearing most of the testimony you come with your

          7  personal opinions, your viewpoints about you and

          8  your family and your thoughts about children, and

          9  nutrition and, you know, we want to hear from not

         10  only experts in the field or officials on the

         11  Department of Education, but we want to hear from

         12  ordinary people also. And that's important in the

         13  process.

         14                 MS. McCOY: Okay. My opinions aren't

         15  just based on, you know, what I feel in my heart. I

         16  have read about it. I've made educated decisions in

         17  what we feed our daughter and what our daughter

         18  drinks and what we send our daughter to school with.

         19  So, you know, I feel a lot of the information which

         20  was presented by, again, Mr. Berkowitz and some of

         21  the people who followed that were here on Mr.

         22  DeBlasio's behalf, I just don't feel that a lot of

         23  the information that they were putting out there was

         24  correct.

         25                 I mean, from the logic of some of the

                                                            195

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  things they were saying, why not give our kids

          3  milkshakes? I mean, if that will make them consume

          4  milk, which they feel is so nutritious and so

          5  important, you know, at what point would you stop

          6  with the logic of, oh, we've got to give them

          7  flavored milk because it will make them drink milk.

          8                 I mean, I think the milk issue itself

          9  is wrong, but taking that one step further, and,

         10  okay, if the milk is there to put things in it which

         11  make it, you know --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, let me

         13  flesh this out with you here.

         14                 You know, the report is that there's

         15  been a ten percent drop off of milk consumption

         16  after DOE adopted this policy. And I asked this

         17  question and I love to hear from you as a parent,

         18  and from you, Doctor --

         19                 MS. LEVIN: Dietician.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Dietician, I'm

         21  sorry.

         22                 Okay, for kids that can go home by

         23  themselves after school and their parents give them

         24  a little spending money, you know, if they're not

         25  drinking, if there's a ten percent drop off, is it
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          2  not safe to say, is it reasonable to say that those

          3  children are going to go out and if they had that

          4  dollar in their pocket they're going to go out and

          5  buy a soda or something like that, and some of the

          6  dieticians and other people that were testifying,

          7  that it would be better if they had, even if it was

          8  flavored milk, that in their system, then to have,

          9  for example, if children go outside and buy sodas

         10  and stuff. Any comment on that?

         11                 MS. McCOY: It certainly wasn't being

         12  presented as the better of two evils. It was being

         13  presented as they need to get the nutrition from

         14  milk, which is incorrect.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         16                 MS. McCOY: And the City Council can't

         17  control, unfortunately -- not unfortunately. The

         18  City Council cannot control what goes on after

         19  children go home, but what they can control is what

         20  the children consume in schools, and I think by

         21  assuming that kids are going to go home and do

         22  something else, that's not, you know, what needs to

         23  be at issue here.

         24                 What's at issue is what the children

         25  have when they're at school. Milk is not nutritious.
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          2  Certainly flavored milk is even worse than regular

          3  milk. I mean, you know, here is living proof that

          4  children don't need milk to be healthy, growing

          5  children.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Ms. Levin, any

          7  thought on that scenario I just fleshed out?

          8                 MS. LEVIN: Yes. I think it's like

          9  comparing, well, we can't get these kids to eat

         10  apples, so we'll give them like an apple pie, and

         11  think that somehow that's better than a candy bar.

         12  But you can't compare the two. I mean, there's a

         13  problem if kids don't want to eat fruit, or kids

         14  don't want to eat vegetables, whole grains and

         15  beans, the problem is the desire is not there

         16  because there is too much marketing going on, or

         17  whatever your reasoning is behind that. But the

         18  problem isn't, you know, you going to eat this junk

         19  or this junk, this junk is better. Well, there's

         20  other options. There's healthy foods out there.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And let me just

         22  turn it. You may have heard me say this. The

         23  resolution that Mr. DeBlasio introduced calls for

         24  the DOE to assess the impact of their decision. It

         25  doesn't say to go back to what it was, but some
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          2  people may read into it that what they're asking for

          3  is to reintroduce some flavored milk. But the

          4  resolution only asks for the DOE to assess the

          5  impact of what it's having. Do you think that

          6  assessing the impact of the decision is reasonable

          7  or unreasonable?

          8                 MS. McCOY: Well, I actually thought

          9  Mr. DeBlasio's stance on it was clear. I mean, he

         10  came right out and said that the consistency of skim

         11  milk isn't sufficient to get these children to drink

         12  it. If you have to add sugar or other, you know,

         13  things into the milk to make it more appealing, you

         14  know, let's not mince words here.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Right.

         16                 MS. McCOY: I mean, it's obvious where

         17  he stood on it, and I think assessment is just

         18  another term for taking a long amount of time, which

         19  doesn't need to be wasted any further. I mean, the

         20  kids, as every day goes by, every day that these

         21  kids consume this in school, it's another lost

         22  opportunity.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. So, Ms.

         24  Levin, as far as Mr. DeBlasio -- because the

         25  resolution only asks the DOE to assess the impact,
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          2  but Mr. DeBlasio in talking about, Council Member

          3  DeBlasio, in communicating with Mr. Berkowitz, said

          4  sometimes is it unreasonable to take a step

          5  backwards to go forward? And Mr. Berkowitz, he

          6  basically said that they've already made a decision.

          7  And in my opinion, he was not willing to take a step

          8  back to go forward. What's your opinion on that?

          9                 Did you also see it in that scenario

         10  as I just described?

         11                 MS. LEVIN: I did. I personally think

         12  it sounds like a waste of time and money because

         13  they've taken a step in the right direction. I

         14  haven't heard any, most health experts up here would

         15  agree with that, you've got to get rid of these

         16  fatty cholesterol laden foods and they've gotten rid

         17  of some, why go back and spend a lot of money on

         18  what he clearly wants to be the outcome, which is

         19  have all this whole milk and flavored milk back in

         20  the schools? I just think it's a waste of time.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That's the

         22  impression you got from him as far as his

         23  discussion?

         24                 MS. LEVIN: Oh, absolutely.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now, my final
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          2  question to both of you, you may have heard at the

          3  end when the Department of Education officials, Mr.

          4  Berkowitz and Ms. Benson, and we talked about, she

          5  was saying that the policy for physical education

          6  was not mandated, and DOE has not lived up to the

          7  State mandate for physical education; do you

          8  believe, based on your knowledge of physical

          9  education Local Wellness Policy should be mandated

         10  and not just recommended?

         11                 Because if it's not mandated, it's

         12  recommended.

         13                 You would agree with that, right?

         14  We're playing with words here. If it's not mandated,

         15  it's recommended then?

         16                 MS. LEVIN: Right. It's clearly

         17  recommended. These wellness policies are

         18  recommendations. You're mandated to have it. You're

         19  not mandated to enact upon it.

         20                 I can't explain why that is.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: No, I don't want

         22  you to explain. I'm asking you, should it be

         23  mandated that the Department of Education meet the

         24  State requirements of physical education which they

         25  have failed to meet up until today?
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          2                 MS. LEVIN: Seems like if they're

          3  going to mandate you have it, they ought to enforce

          4  it. That's my opinion. I'm not an expert in physical

          5  fitness.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Right.

          7                 Any thought on that, Ms. McCoy?

          8                 MS. McCOY: I would agree that sounds

          9  logical, but I wouldn't want to make any definite

         10  statement on that since I really, I haven't read

         11  much about it.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. Well, I

         13  want to thank you both for coming in and giving

         14  testimony.

         15                 MS. LEVIN: Thank you.

         16                 MS. McCOY: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I appreciate it.

         18  And thank you, Rose.

         19                 MS. McCOY: Did you want to say

         20  something?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Did you want to

         22  say something? Okay, you have to introduce yourself

         23  first. You have to tell us your name.

         24                 ROSE: Rose.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Hi, Rose.
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          2                 What do you have to say on this

          3  subject? Anything?

          4                 ROSE: No.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay. Well, let

          6  me just tell you, your presence here was just a

          7  pleasant -- it's always a pleasure to see little

          8  children in the City Council Chambers accompanying

          9  their parents. So, thank you for coming, okay?

         10                 MS. LEVIN: Thank you.

         11                 MS. McCOY: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you,

         13  everyone. It is now 1:44, and we have heard all of

         14  the testimony on this particular subject matter,

         15  which is an oversight hearing on federal mandated

         16  Local Wellness Policy and Resolution No. 267-A,

         17  asking the Department of Education to assess the

         18  impact on this decision to go with about choices of

         19  milk.

         20                 And, so, with that, I call this

         21  hearing closed.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 1:44 p.m.)

         23                 (Written testimony read into the

         24  record.)

         25
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          2

          3  Written Testimony Of:

          4  Theresa A. Nicklas, DrPH

          5  Professor of Pediatrics

          6  Former 2005 DGAC Member

          7

          8

          9  December 12, 2006

         10

         11

         12  The Honorable Robert Jackson, Chair

         13  Committee on Education

         14  New York City Council

         15  Room 1747

         16  250 Broadway

         17  New York, New York 10007

         18

         19                 Dr. Council Member Jackson:

         20                 The 2005 Dietary Guidelines Advisory

         21  Committee (DGAC) concluded, "Consuming 3 servings

         22  (equivalent to 3 cups) of milk and milk products

         23  each day can reduce risk of low bone mass and

         24  contribute important amounts of nutrients." The

         25  intake of milk products is especially important to
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          2  bone health during childhood and adolescence. Using

          3  data from 3,251 Caucasian women from NHANES III, low

          4  intake (less than one serving of milk per week

          5  compared with more than one serving per day) during

          6  childhood and adolescence was associated with less

          7  hip bone mass in adulthood, and low milk intake

          8  during childhood was associated with a twofold

          9  greater risk of fracture. Three cups of milk per day

         10  provides substantial amount of several nutrients,

         11  i.e., calcium, protein, potassium, magnesium,

         12  riboflavin, and vitamin D. Milk and milk products

         13  provide four of the five nutrients that are low

         14  enough to be of concern for children. Calcium and

         15  potassium intakes are severely compromised if

         16  adequate amounts of milk products are not included

         17  in children's diets daily. Seventy-one percent of

         18  girls and 62 percent of boys 6 to 11 years of age do

         19  not meet the calcium recommendation.

         20                 An important study by Johnson et al.

         21  showed that offering flavored milk to children aged

         22  5 to 11 years of age resulted in a significant

         23  increase in total milk consumed. A little sugar may

         24  be needed to get children to consume more dairy.

         25                 For the first time, the 2005 DGAC
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          2  introduced the concept of discretionary calories.

          3  The maximum amount of discretionary calories is

          4  based on the difference between one's total daily

          5  caloric requirement and the number of calories used

          6  to meet nutrient recommendations.

          7                 This allows for more flexibility in

          8  food choices.

          9                 For a 10-year-old girl, they would

         10  have available 170 discretionary calories that can

         11  be used to add solid fat and/or added sugar in their

         12  diet. So if a child wanted to consume either whole

         13  milk or nonfat flavored milk they would have

         14  sufficient discretionary calories to do so. One

         15  percent chocolate milk contains about 12 grams of

         16  added sugar which amounts to 50 calories. This is

         17  roughly only 30 percent of their discretionary

         18  calorie allowance with the remaining 70 percent to

         19  be used in other ways.

         20                 The substantial amount of essential

         21  vitamins and minerals in flavored milk far outweighs

         22  the small amount of added sugar. Thus, offering 1

         23  percent flavored milk in schools would be one way to

         24  increase children's total milk consumption which

         25  would have an important impact on the nutrient
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          2  adequacy of children's diets. Eliminating flavored

          3  milk from schools would be more of a disservice to

          4  improving the health of our children.

          5                 Sincerely, Theresa A. Nicklas, DrPH

          6                 Professor of Pediatrics

          7                 Former 2005 DGAG Member

          8  TAN:ph.

          9                 (Hearing concluded at 1:44 p.m.)
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